On correlation functions for the open XXZ chain with non-longitudinal boundary fields: The case with a constraint

Giuliano Niccoli^{1*} and Véronique Terras^{2†}

 Univ. Lyon, Ens de Lyon, Univ Claude Bernard, CNRS, Laboratoire de Physique, F-69342 Lyon, France
 Université Paris-Saclay, CNRS, LPTMS, 91405, Orsay, France

Abstract

This paper is a continuation of [1], in which a set of matrix elements of local operators was computed for the XXZ spin-1/2 open chain with a particular case of unparallel boundary fields. Here, we extend these results to the more general case in which both fields are non-longitudinal and related by one constraint, allowing for a partial description of the spectrum by usual Bethe equations. More precisely, the complete spectrum and eigenstates can be characterized within the Separation of Variables (SoV) framework. One uses here the fact that, under the constraint, a part of this SoV spectrum can be described via solutions of a usual, homogeneous, TQ-equation, with corresponding transfer matrix eigenstates coinciding with generalized Bethe states. We explain how to generically compute the action of a basis of local operators on such kind of states, and this under the most general boundary condition on the last site of the chain. As a result, we can compute the matrix elements of some of these basis elements in any eigenstate described by the homogenous TQ-equation. Assuming, following a conjecture of Nepomechie and Ravanini, that the ground state itself can be described in this framework, we obtain multiple integral representations for these matrix elements in the half-infinite chain limit, generalizing those previously obtained in the case of longitudinal boundary fields and in the case of the special boundary conditions considered in [1].

😉 🕛 Copyright G. Niccoli and V. Terras.	Received 19-01-2023	
This work is licensed under the Creative Commons	Accepted 16-02-2024	Charlefor
Attribution 4.0 International License.	Published 09-04-2024	updates
Published by the SciPost Foundation.	doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.	16.4.099

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	The open spin-1/2 XXZ quantum chain	4
	2.1 General framework	5
	2.2 Transfer matrix spectrum and eigenstates by SoV	6
	2.3 Reformulation of the spectrum and eigenstates	8
3	Decomposition of boundary states into bulk ones	10
	3.1 Boundary-bulk decomposition of the monodromy matrix	10
	3.2 Decomposition of gauged boundary states into bulk ones	13

4	Action of local operators on boundary separate states	14
5	Matrix elements of <i>m</i> -site local operator strips in the finite chain	17
6	On correlation functions in the half-infinite chain	19
7	Conclusion and Outlooks	22
Re	ferences	23

1 Introduction

This paper is a continuation of our previous work [1], in which a set of matrix elements of local operators on the first *m* sites of the chain was computed for the XXZ spin-1/2 open chain with a particular case of unparallel boundary fields: there was considered the case of a fixed longitudinal boundary field on the last site of the chain, with a completely generic, a priori non-longitudinal, boundary field on the first site of the chain. Here, we instead consider the case in which both boundary fields are non-longitudinal but are related by one constraint [2] which allows for the description of a part of the spectrum and eigenstates by usual *TQ* and Bethe equations.

There exists a large literature on open quantum spin chain [2–42]. These models have indeed numerous applications: they are useful to model out-of-equilibrium and transport properties in quantum condensed matter physics, see for instance [26]; they are also related to classical stochastic models, such as asymmetric simple exclusion models [15]. The interest in open integrable quantum spin chains lays notably on the freedom that we have in choosing its boundary conditions while keeping the system integrable.

The first results on the exact description of the Hamiltonian spectrum and eigenstates were obtained for longitudinal boundary fields, i.e. when both boundary fields are along the z-direction, in [3] within the coordinated Bethe ansatz framework, and in [4] within the algebraic Bethe ansatz (ABA) framework. In [4] a complete algebraic formalism for the study of these open spin chains was also introduced, issued from the Quantum Inverse Scattering Method (QISM) [43-45], and based on the representation theory of the reflection algebra [46]. Although the case of completely arbitrary boundary magnetic fields is a priori integrable, in the sense that one can construct, within the algebraic framework introduced in [4], a oneparameter family of commuting transfer matrices, the explicit construction of its common spectrum and eigenstates for non-longitudinal boundary fields has remained widely open for a long period. In that case, the ferromagnetic state can no longer be used as a reference state and algebraic Bethe ansatz is therefore no longer directly applicable. It was however noticed in [2] that, under a unique constraint on the six boundary parameters parametrizing the six components of the two boundary fields, one can still write a system of usual Bethe equations, which unfortunately provides in general only an incomplete description of the transfer matrix spectrum. Conjectures, based on numerical studies, were made in [13] on the fact that these Bethe equations yield the ground state at half-filling, and in [14] on the fact that one could nevertheless recover the full spectrum by combining two different sectors with different constraints related by some symmetry of the spin chain. A construction of the corresponding Bethe states via a generalization of algebraic Bethe ansatz based on the use of (a trigonometric version of) Baxter's Vertex-IRF transformation [47] was proposed in [12], see also [10, 18, 19].

However, it was not possible so far to compute correlation functions within ABA for this case with the constraint due to the difficulty of constructing Bethe states in both the direct and dual spaces within a common framework. As for the completely general case without the constraint, some progresses have been made more recently by the means of alternative approaches: off-diagonal Bethe ansatz [28], modified Bethe ansatz [32–37, 42], or Separation of Variables (SoV) [22, 27, 30, 31, 40]. However, the description of the spectrum proposed in these contexts does not involve usual TQ and Bethe equations, but modified ones, with some additional inhomogeneous term, a description which is a priori difficult to deal with when considering the computation of physical quantities such as correlation functions and the thermodynamic limit of the model.

Hence, in the present work, we restrict our study to the case in which the boundary fields are both non-longitudinal but related by the aforementioned constraint, for which at least part of the spectrum can be described by usual Bethe equations. We suppose moreover that the boundary conditions are such that the ground state of the model is among the states which can be described in this framework, in a sector close to half-filling (see the conjectures of [13, 14]), so that it can be described in the thermodynamic limit by the same density function as in the longitudinal case with possibly some additional boundary roots, see [8, 9, 41]. We develop our study in the framework of the SoV approach [22, 25, 27, 29-31, 38-40, 48-76], pioneered by Sklyanin [48-53]. The advantages of using this approach is that it provides, on the one hand, a complete characterization of eigenvalues and eigenstates of the open spin 1/2XXZ chain under the most general integrable boundary conditions¹ and, on the other hand, it naturally produces determinant formulae [40] for the scalar products of separate states [27,29, 30, 38–40, 66, 68–71, 73, 75]², of which the transfer matrix eigenstates are special instances. Moreover, in this approach, the description of the spectrum in terms of Bethe equations and ABA-type construction of the eigenstates emerge explicitly as particular simplifications due to the constraint within the global approach, so that we can also make use of these results when it is more convenient to do so.

Our purpose is here to compute boundary correlation functions at zero temperature, or more precisely the mean values in the ground state of local operators on the first m sites of the chain. Such kinds of results were first obtained in the periodic case [90–94], and were at the origin of a long series of impressive new and exact results concerning correlation functions [95–129]. These results could be generalized to the case of an open chain with longitudinal boundary fields in [6, 7, 20, 21]. For more general boundary fields or other types of boundary conditions, the problem has for long remained unsolved due to the aforementioned difficulties in having a good description of the spectrum and eigenstates. These limitations were overcome only recently within the SoV framework in [130] for the open XXX chain with unparallel boundary fields and in [1] for the open XXZ chain with one arbitrary nonlongitudinal boundary field, the other being fixed along the z-direction (see also [131] for the XXX chain with anti-periodic boundary conditions). Here, we generalize the results of [1] to the case where both fields are non-longitudinal within the constraint, that is, we enlarge our results from the case of three free boundary parameters [1] to the case of five free boundary parameters. As in [1], we however have, due to technical difficulties related to the use of the vertex-IRF transformation, to restrict ourselves to the consideration of a subclass of matrix elements.

The content of the paper is the following. In section 2, we briefly recall the solution of the open XXZ spin 1/2 chain with non-longitudinal boundary fields: we recall the general al-

¹This is in particular the case in the framework of the recent rederivation of SoV [77, 78] relying on the pure integrable structure of the models and allowing for a wide extension of its applicability even to higher rank cases [77–84]; see also [53, 56, 85, 86] for different precedent higher rank developments.

²This is at least the case for the rank one models. In [87], it has been shown how these types of formulae extend to the gl(3) higher rank case, see also the interesting and recent papers [88,89].

gebraic framework, the SoV characterization of the transfer matrix spectrum and eigenstates, and the simplifications that occur when one imposes the constraint of [2] on the boundary parameters. In this case, part of the spectrum can be characterized in terms of a homogeneous TQ-equation, and the corresponding eigenstates – and more generally all separate states associated with a polynomial function Q – can be reformulated in terms of well-identified generalized Bethe states. The latter are constructed, as in [12], from a gauged transformed version of the reflection algebra, by means of the Vertex-IRF transformation for particular values of the corresponding gauged parameters. In section 3, we explain how to decompose these generalized boundary Bethe states into generalized bulk Bethe states for any arbitrary boundary field on the last site N of the chain, i.e. for any form of the associated boundary matrix which is thus a priori non-diagonal. This represents a strong generalization of the boundary-bulk decomposition derived in [1], since there was only considered the case of a particular longitudinal boundary field at site N, corresponding to a particular diagonal boundary matrix. Note that this boundary-bulk decomposition is a central technical point for the computation of correlation functions, since we do not know at the moment how to act directly with local operators on boundary states, but only on bulk states. Hence, the form of the boundary-bulk decomposition has to be simple enough so that we can reconstruct the result of the action in terms of boundary states. The idea is here to adjust some gauge parameters of the Vertex-IRF transformation so as to make this decomposition as simple as in the diagonal case. Quite remarkably, the choice that we have to make on the gauge parameters is compatible with the constraint, so that we in fact obtain a decomposition of separate states into bulk Bethe states on which we can act with local operators completely similarly as in [1]. The result of such action is then given in section 4. There, we consider the same basis of local operators on the first *m* sites of the chain as in our previous work [1]. The result of the action of the elements of this basis on the boundary Bethe states/separate states obtained in section 4 is very similar, in its form, as the one derived in [1], with however different hypothesis: a more general boundary field and more constraint gauge parameters. This enables us to compute, by using the scalar product formulas derived in [40], the matrix elements of these local operators in any transfer matrix eigenstate that can be obtained by a solution of the homogenous TQ-equation under the constraint [2]. However, as in [1], we have to restrict ourselves to the subset of local operators that preserve the number of gauged boundary *B*-operators. The result of this action for the finite chain is presented in section 5. Finally, in section 6, we derive multiple integral representations for these matrix elements in the ground state and in the half-infinite chain limit. We there make the hypothesis (based on the conjecture of [13, 14]) that the ground state can be obtained from a solution of the homogeneous TQ-equation close to half-filling, and can therefore be described by the same density function as in the diagonal case with possibly some additional boundary roots related to the four boundary parameters that appear in the Bethe equations.

2 The open spin-1/2 XXZ quantum chain

In this paper, we consider the open XXZ spin-1/2 quantum chain coupled with local external fields on sites 1 and *N*. The Hamiltonian of this model is given on $\mathcal{H} = \bigotimes_{n=1}^{N} \mathcal{H}_n$, $\mathcal{H}_n \simeq \mathbb{C}^2$, as

$$H = \sum_{n=1}^{N-1} \left[\sigma_n^x \sigma_{n+1}^x + \sigma_n^y \sigma_{n+1}^y + \Delta \sigma_n^z \sigma_{n+1}^z \right] + \sum_{a \in \{x, y, z\}} \left[h_-^a \sigma_1^a + h_+^a \sigma_N^a \right].$$
(2.1)

Here σ_n^{α} , $\alpha \in \{x, y, z\}$ stand for the usual Pauli matrices acting on \mathcal{H}_n . The anisotropy Δ of the coupling is parameterized as

$$\Delta = \cosh \eta \,, \tag{2.2}$$

and the boundary fields h_{\pm} as

$$h_{\pm}^{x} = 2\kappa_{\pm} \sinh \eta \, \frac{\cosh \tau_{\pm}}{\sinh \zeta_{\pm}} = \sinh \eta \, \frac{\cosh \tau_{\pm}}{\sinh \varphi_{\pm} \cosh \psi_{\pm}}, \qquad (2.3)$$

$$h_{\pm}^{y} = 2i\kappa_{\pm} \sinh \eta \, \frac{\sinh \tau_{\pm}}{\sinh \zeta_{\pm}} = i \sinh \eta \, \frac{\sinh \tau_{\pm}}{\sinh \varphi_{\pm} \cosh \psi_{\pm}} \,, \tag{2.4}$$

$$h_{\pm}^{z} = \sinh \eta \, \coth \varsigma_{\pm} = \sinh \eta \, \coth \varphi_{\pm} \, \tanh \psi_{\pm} \,, \tag{2.5}$$

where the two sets of boundary parameters are related by

$$\sinh \varphi_{\pm} \cosh \psi_{\pm} = \frac{\sinh \zeta_{\pm}}{2\kappa_{\pm}}, \qquad \cosh \varphi_{\pm} \sinh \psi_{\pm} = \frac{\cosh \zeta_{\pm}}{2\kappa_{\pm}}. \tag{2.6}$$

The spectral problem of an inhomogeneous version of the Hamiltonian (2.1) with nonlongitudinal boundary fields can be solved by the quantum version of the Separation of Variables (SoV) approach [22,27,30,40,80], in the algebraic QISM framework of the representation theory of the reflection algebra [4,46]. We here use the same definitions and notations as in our previous paper [1], in which this approach was reviewed, so that we give here only the necessary notations for the purpose of the present paper and refer to [1] for details.

2.1 General framework

Let us define the boundary monodromy matrix $\mathcal{U}_{-}(\lambda) \equiv \mathcal{U}_{-,0}(\lambda) \in \text{End}(V_0 \otimes \mathcal{H}), V_0 \simeq \mathbb{C}^2$, as

$$\mathcal{U}_{-,0}(\lambda) = T_0(\lambda) K_{-,0}(\lambda) \hat{T}_0(\lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{A}_{-}(\lambda) & \mathcal{B}_{-}(\lambda) \\ \mathcal{C}_{-}(\lambda) & \mathcal{D}_{-}(\lambda) \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.7)

in terms of

$$T_0(\lambda) = R_{01}(\lambda - \xi_1 - \eta/2) \dots R_{0N}(\lambda - \xi_N - \eta/2), \qquad (2.8)$$

$$\hat{T}_{0}(\lambda) = (-1)^{N} \sigma_{0}^{y} T_{0}^{t_{0}}(-\lambda) \sigma_{0}^{y} = R_{0N}(\lambda + \xi_{N} - \eta/2) \dots R_{01}(\lambda + \xi_{1} - \eta/2),$$
(2.9)

and of

$$K_{-}(\lambda) \equiv K_{-,0}(\lambda) = K(\lambda; \varsigma_{+}, \kappa_{+}, \tau_{+}), \qquad (2.10)$$

The bulk monodromy matrix with inhomogeneity parameters ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_N (2.8) is defined in terms of the 6-vertex trigonometric *R*-matrix,

$$R(\lambda) \equiv R_{12}(\lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} \sinh(\lambda + \eta) & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \sinh\lambda & \sinh\eta & 0\\ 0 & \sinh\eta & \sinh\lambda & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \sinh(\lambda + \eta) \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{End}(\mathbb{C}^2 \otimes \mathbb{C}^2), \quad (2.11)$$

whereas the scalar boundary matrix (2.10), which parameterizes the boundary field h_+ , is defined as

$$K(\lambda;\varsigma,\kappa,\tau) = \frac{1}{\sinh\varsigma} \begin{pmatrix} \sinh(\lambda - \eta/2 + \varsigma) & \kappa e^{\tau} \sinh(2\lambda - \eta) \\ \kappa e^{-\tau} \sinh(2\lambda - \eta) & \sinh(\varsigma - \lambda + \eta/2) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.12)

Introducing also the scalar boundary matrix $K_+(\lambda) = K(\lambda + \eta; \varsigma_-, \kappa_-, \tau_-)$ parameterizing the boundary field h_- , we define the transfer matrice as

$$\mathcal{T}(\lambda) = \operatorname{tr}_0 \left[K_{+,0}(\lambda) \, T_0(\lambda) \, K_{-,0}(\lambda) \, \hat{T}_0(\lambda) \right] = \operatorname{tr}_0 \left[K_{+,0}(\lambda) \, \mathcal{U}_{-,0}(\lambda) \right].$$
(2.13)

The latter form a one-parameter family of commuting operators on \mathcal{H} , and the Hamiltonian (2.1) can be obtained in terms of this transfer matrix in the homogeneous limit $\xi_1 = \xi_2 = \cdots = \xi_N = 0$ as

$$H = \frac{2(\sinh\eta)^{1-2N}}{\operatorname{tr}[K_+(\eta/2)]} \operatorname{tr}[K_-(\eta/2)]} \frac{d}{d\lambda} \mathcal{T}(\lambda)\Big|_{\lambda=\eta/2} + \operatorname{constant}.$$
 (2.14)

Note that we have here used the same convention as in [1], in which we have defined K_{-} in terms of $\varsigma_{+}, \kappa_{+}, \tau_{+}$ parameterizing h_{+} and K_{+} in terms of $\varsigma_{-}, \kappa_{-}, \tau_{-}$ parameterizing h_{-} .

In this framework, the transfer matrix eigenstates can be constructed by algebraic Bethe ansatz (ABA) when both boundary matrices K_{\pm} are diagonal [4], or by Separation of Variables (SoV) otherwise [22, 27, 30, 40, 80]. In this paper we consider the situation in which the boundary matrices K_{\pm} are both non-diagonal and in which the boundary parameters satisfy some constraint,

$$\cosh(\tau_{+} - \tau_{-}) = \epsilon_{\varphi_{+}} \epsilon_{\varphi_{-}} \cosh(\epsilon_{\varphi_{+}} \varphi_{+} + \epsilon_{\varphi_{-}} \varphi_{-} + \epsilon_{\psi_{+}} \psi_{+} - \epsilon_{\psi_{-}} \psi_{-} + (N - 1 - 2M)\eta), \quad (2.15)$$

for some $M \in \{1,...,N\}$ and some $\varepsilon \equiv (\epsilon_{\varphi_+}, \epsilon_{\varphi_-}, \epsilon_{\psi_+}, \epsilon_{\psi_-}) \in \{-1,1\}^4$ such that $\epsilon_{\varphi_+}\epsilon_{\varphi_-}\epsilon_{\psi_+}\epsilon_{\psi_-} = 1$. In this case, the spectrum can be partially described by usual Bethe equations [2, 12, 31], with corresponding eigenstates constructed by SoV in terms of some polynomial function $Q(\lambda)$ of the form

$$Q(\lambda) = \prod_{j=1}^{M} \frac{\cosh(2\lambda) - \cosh(2\lambda_j)}{2} = \prod_{j=1}^{M} \left(\sinh^2 \lambda - \sinh^2 \lambda_j\right), \qquad (2.16)$$

where $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_M$ are the corresponding Bethe roots. Except in the case M = N, such a description is not complete. However, it was conjectured in [13, 14], using numerical studies, that the solutions of the Bethe equations for some M subject to the constraint (2.15) with some choice of ε , together with the solutions for M' = N - 1 - M subject to the constraint with $\varepsilon' = -\varepsilon$, produce the complete spectrum. We shall not discuss the validity of this conjecture in the present paper, but we will nevertheless suppose that we are in a situation in which at least the ground state can be described in this framework, which will be enough for our purpose.

2.2 Transfer matrix spectrum and eigenstates by SoV

Let us recall that, in the situation we consider here of non-diagonal boundary matrices K_{\pm} , and provided that the inhomogeneity parameters are generic, i.e.

$$\xi_j, \xi_j \pm \xi_k \notin \{0, -\eta, \eta\} \mod(i\pi), \quad \forall j, k \in \{1, \dots, N\}, \ j \neq k,$$
 (2.17)

the transfer matrix $\mathcal{T}(\lambda)$ has simple spectrum, and that the complete set of its left and right eigenstates can be expressed in the form of *separate states* as

$$|Q\rangle = \sum_{\mathbf{h}\in\{0,1\}^{N}} \prod_{n=1}^{N} \frac{Q(\xi_{n}^{(h_{n})})}{Q(\xi_{n}^{(0)})} e^{-\sum_{j} h_{j}\xi_{j}} \widehat{V}(\xi_{1}^{(h_{1})}, \dots, \xi_{N}^{(h_{N})}) |\mathbf{h}\rangle, \qquad (2.18)$$

$$\langle Q| = \sum_{\mathbf{h}\in\{0,1\}^{N}} \prod_{n=1}^{N} \left[\left(\frac{\sinh(2\xi_{n}-2\eta)}{\sinh(2\xi_{n}+2\eta)} \frac{\mathbf{A}_{\varepsilon}(\xi_{n}+\frac{\eta}{2})}{\mathbf{A}_{\varepsilon}(-\xi_{n}+\frac{\eta}{2})} \right)^{h_{n}} \frac{Q(\xi_{n}^{(h_{n})})}{Q(\xi_{n}^{(0)})} \right] \times e^{-\sum_{j} h_{j}\xi_{j}} \widehat{V}(\xi_{1}^{(h_{1})}, \dots, \xi_{N}^{(h_{N})}) \langle \mathbf{h}|. \qquad (2.19)$$

More precisely, the unique (up to normalization) $\mathcal{T}(\lambda)$ -eigenstates associated with any given eigenvalue $\tau(\lambda)$ are given by (2.18) and (2.19) in which *Q* is such that

$$\frac{Q(\xi_n^{(1)})}{Q(\xi_n^{(0)})} = \frac{\tau(\xi_n^{(0)})}{\mathbf{A}_{\varepsilon}(\xi_n^{(0)})} = \frac{\mathbf{A}_{\varepsilon}(-\xi_n^{(1)})}{\tau(\xi_n^{(1)})}, \qquad \forall n \in \{1, \dots, N\}.$$
(2.20)

In the above formulas,

$$\left\{|\mathbf{h}\rangle, \mathbf{h} \equiv (h_1, \dots, h_N) \in \{0, 1\}^N\right\} \quad \text{and} \quad \left\{\langle \mathbf{h}|, \mathbf{h} \equiv (h_1, \dots, h_N) \in \{0, 1\}^N\right\} \quad (2.21)$$

are SoV bases of \mathcal{H} and \mathcal{H}^* respectively, which can be constructed either by a generalization of Sklyanin's SoV approach [27, 30] or by the new SoV approach proposed in [80]. The normalization of such bases can be chosen so that

$$\langle \mathbf{h} | \mathbf{h}' \rangle = \delta_{\mathbf{h},\mathbf{h}'} \frac{N(\{\xi\}) e^{2\sum_{j=1}^{N} h_j \xi_j}}{\widehat{V}(\xi_1^{(h_1)}, \dots, \xi_N^{(h_N)})},$$
(2.22)

where

$$N(\{\xi\}) = \widehat{V}(\xi_1, \dots, \xi_N) \frac{\widehat{V}(\xi_1^{(0)}, \dots, \xi_N^{(0)})}{\widehat{V}(\xi_1^{(1)}, \dots, \xi_N^{(1)})}.$$
(2.23)

As in [1], we have used the notations

$$\xi_n^{(h)} = \xi_n + \eta/2 - h\eta, \qquad 1 \le n \le N, \quad h \in \{0, 1\},$$
(2.24)

$$\widehat{V}(x_1, \dots, x_N) = \det_{1 \le i, j \le N} \left[\sinh^{2(j-1)} x_i \right] = \prod_{j < k} (\sinh^2 x_k - \sinh^2 x_j), \quad (2.25)$$

Moreover we have defined,

$$\mathbf{A}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) = (-1)^{N} \, \frac{\sinh(2\lambda + \eta)}{\sinh(2\lambda)} \, \mathbf{a}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) \, a(\lambda) \, d(-\lambda), \tag{2.26}$$

where

$$a(\lambda) = \prod_{n=1}^{N} \sinh(\lambda - \xi_n + \eta/2), \qquad d(\lambda) = \prod_{n=1}^{N} \sinh(\lambda - \xi_n - \eta/2), \qquad (2.27)$$

and

$$\mathbf{a}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) = \frac{\sinh(\lambda - \frac{\eta}{2} + \epsilon_{\varphi_{+}}\varphi_{+})\cosh(\lambda - \frac{\eta}{2} + \epsilon_{\psi_{+}}\psi_{+})}{\sinh(\epsilon_{\varphi_{+}}\varphi_{+})\cosh(\epsilon_{\psi_{+}}\psi_{+})} \times \frac{\sinh(\lambda - \frac{\eta}{2} + \epsilon_{\varphi_{-}}\varphi_{-})\cosh(\lambda - \frac{\eta}{2} - \epsilon_{\psi_{-}}\psi_{-})}{\sinh(\epsilon_{\varphi_{-}}\varphi_{-})\cosh(\epsilon_{\psi_{-}}\psi_{-})},$$
(2.28)

for any choice of $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} \equiv (\epsilon_{\varphi_+}, \epsilon_{\varphi_-}, \epsilon_{\psi_+}, \epsilon_{\psi_-}) \in \{-1, 1\}^4$ such that $\epsilon_{\varphi_+} \epsilon_{\varphi_-} \epsilon_{\psi_+} \epsilon_{\psi_-} = 1$. Note that the new SoV construction proposed in [80] (see Section 3.1.2 of our previous

Note that the new SoV construction proposed in [80] (see Section 3.1.2 of our previous work [1] for a summary of this construction in our present notations) is more general: it is valid as long as the two boundary matrices K_+ and K_- are not both proportional to the identity. The generalization of Skyanin's SoV approach proposed in [30] (see Section 3.1.1 of [1]) is instead restricted to the case in which at least one boundary matrix (the boundary matrix K_- with our conventions) is non-diagonal. It involves a generalized gauge transformation of the reflection algebra,

$$\mathcal{U}_{-}(\lambda|\alpha,\beta) = S_{0}^{-1}(\eta/2 - \lambda|\alpha,\beta) \mathcal{U}_{-}(\lambda) S_{0}(\lambda - \eta/2|\alpha,\beta) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{A}_{-}(\lambda|\alpha,\beta) & \mathcal{B}_{-}(\lambda|\alpha,\beta) \\ \mathcal{C}_{-}(\lambda|\alpha,\beta) & \mathcal{D}_{-}(\lambda|\alpha,\beta) \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.29)

given by a trigonometric version of Baxter's Vertex-IRF transformation,

$$S(\lambda|\alpha,\beta) = \begin{pmatrix} e^{\lambda - \eta(\beta + \alpha)} & e^{\lambda + \eta(\beta - \alpha)} \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.30)

with a particular choice³ of the two parameters α and β as

$$\eta \alpha = -\tau_{-} + \frac{\epsilon'_{-} - \epsilon_{-}}{2} (\varphi_{-} - \psi_{-}) - \frac{\epsilon_{-} + \epsilon'_{-}}{4} i\pi + ik\pi \mod 2i\pi, \qquad (2.31)$$

$$\eta\beta = \frac{\epsilon_- + \epsilon'_-}{2}(\varphi_- - \psi_-) + \frac{2 + \epsilon_- - \epsilon'_-}{4}i\pi + ik\pi \mod 2i\pi, \qquad (2.32)$$

for $\epsilon_{-}, \epsilon'_{-} \in \{1, -1\}$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. Since it is not necessary for our purpose and was already recalled in our previous work [1], we do not recall the details of this construction here and refer instead the reader to [1]. We also refer to [1] for general properties of the gauged transformed algebra generated by the operator entries of (2.29).

2.3 Reformulation of the spectrum and eigenstates

One of the difficulties of the SoV approach is that it provides a priori a characterisation of the transfer spectrum and eigenstates in terms of discrete equations of the form (2.20). Such a characterisation is not convenient for the consideration of the physical model at the homogeneous limit $\xi_1 = \xi_2 = \cdots = \xi_N = 0$ and the computation of physical quantities such as the correlation functions. Hence, this characterisation has been reformulated in [31] in terms of functional *TQ*-equations, leading notably to usual Bethe equations in the cases in which the constraint (2.15) holds.

Let us first introduce the following notations:

$$\mathfrak{f}_{\varepsilon}^{(r)} \equiv \mathfrak{f}_{\varepsilon}^{(r)}(\tau_{+},\tau_{-},\varphi_{+},\varphi_{-},\psi_{+},\psi_{-}) = \frac{2\kappa_{+}\kappa_{-}}{\sinh\varsigma_{+}\sinh\varsigma_{-}} \Big[\cosh(\tau_{+}-\tau_{-}) \\
-\epsilon_{\varphi_{+}}\epsilon_{\varphi_{-}}\cosh(\epsilon_{\varphi_{+}}\varphi_{+}+\epsilon_{\varphi_{-}}\varphi_{-}+\epsilon_{\psi_{+}}\psi_{+}-\epsilon_{\psi_{-}}\psi_{-}+(N-1-2r)\eta)\Big].$$
(2.33)

Moreover, we denote with Σ_Q^M the set of $Q(\lambda)$ polynomials in $\cosh(2\lambda)$ of degree *M* of the form (2.16) with

$$\cosh(2\lambda_j) \neq \cosh(2\xi_n^{(h)}), \quad \forall (j,n,h) \in \{1,\dots,M\} \times \{1,\dots,N\} \times \{0,1\}.$$
 (2.34)

Proposition 2.1 ([31,40], see also [1]). Let the two boundary matrices be not both proportional to the identity matrix and the inhomogeneity parameters be generic (2.17).

1. Let us suppose that, for a given $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} \equiv (\epsilon_{\varphi_+}, \epsilon_{\varphi_-}, \epsilon_{\psi_+}, \epsilon_{\psi_-}) \in \{-1, 1\}^4$ such that $\epsilon_{\varphi_+} \epsilon_{\varphi_-} \epsilon_{\psi_+} \epsilon_{\psi_-} = 1$,

$$\forall r \in \{0, \dots, N-1\}, \qquad f_{\varepsilon}^{(r)}(\tau_+, \tau_-, \varphi_+, \varphi_-, \psi_+, \psi_-) \neq 0.$$
(2.35)

Then, the transfer matrix $\mathcal{T}(\lambda)$ is diagonalizable with simple spectrum, and the set $\Sigma_{\mathcal{T}}$ of its eigenvalues is given by the set of entire functions $\tau(\lambda)$ such that there exists a polynomial $Q(\lambda) \in \Sigma_Q^N$ satisfying with $\tau(\lambda)$ the following TQ-equation with inhomogeneous term:

$$\tau(\lambda)Q(\lambda) = \mathbf{A}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)Q(\lambda-\eta) + \mathbf{A}_{\varepsilon}(-\lambda)Q(\lambda+\eta) + \mathfrak{f}_{\varepsilon}^{(N)}a(\lambda)a(-\lambda)d(\lambda)d(-\lambda)[\cosh^{2}(2\lambda) - \cosh^{2}\eta]. \quad (2.36)$$

Moreover, in that case, the corresponding $Q(\lambda) \in \Sigma_Q^N$ satisfying (2.36) with $\tau(\lambda)$ is unique, and the unique (up to an overall normalization factor) left and right $\mathcal{T}(\lambda)$ eigenstates can be expressed as (2.18)-(2.19).

³This choice ensures that the transfer matrix (2.13) can be written only in terms of the elements $\mathcal{A}_{-}(\lambda | \alpha, \beta - 1)$ and $\mathcal{D}_{-}(\lambda | \alpha, \beta + 1)$ of the gauged transformed monodromy matrix (2.29), see Proposition 2.2 of [1].

2. Let us suppose that

$$\frac{\kappa_{+}\kappa_{-}}{\sinh\varsigma_{+}\sinh\varsigma_{-}} = 0.$$
(2.37)

Then, the transfer matrix $\mathcal{T}(\lambda)$ is diagonalizable with simple spectrum, and the set $\Sigma_{\mathcal{T}}$ of its eigenvalues is given by the set of entire functions $\tau(\lambda)$ such that there exists a polynomial $Q(\lambda) \in \bigcup_{n=0}^{N} \Sigma_{O}^{n}$ satisfying with $\tau(\lambda)$ the following homogeneous TQ-equation:

$$\tau(\lambda)Q(\lambda) = \mathbf{A}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)Q(\lambda - \eta) + \mathbf{A}_{\varepsilon}(-\lambda)Q(\lambda + \eta), \qquad (2.38)$$

for a given $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} \equiv (\epsilon_{\varphi_+}, \epsilon_{\varphi_-}, \epsilon_{\psi_+}, \epsilon_{\psi_-}) \in \{-1, 1\}^4$ and $\epsilon_{\varphi_+} \epsilon_{\varphi_-} \epsilon_{\psi_+} \epsilon_{\psi_-} = 1$, Moreover, in that case, the corresponding $Q(\lambda) \in \bigcup_{n=0}^N \Sigma_Q^n$ satisfying (2.38) with $\tau(\lambda)$ is unique, and the unique (up to an overall normalization factor) left and right $\mathcal{T}(\lambda)$ eigenstates can be expressed as (2.18)-(2.19).

3. Let us suppose that the condition (2.15) is satisfied for a given $M \in \{0, ..., N-1\}$ and a given choice of $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} \equiv (\epsilon_{\varphi_+}, \epsilon_{\varphi_-}, \epsilon_{\psi_+}, \epsilon_{\psi_-}) \in \{-1, 1\}^4$ such that $\epsilon_{\varphi_+} \epsilon_{\varphi_-} \epsilon_{\psi_+} \epsilon_{\psi_-} = 1$. Then, the transfer matrix is diagonalizable with simple spectrum, and any entire function $\tau(\lambda)$ such that there exists $Q(\lambda) \in \Sigma_Q^M$ satisfying the homogeneous TQ-equation (2.38) is an eigenvalue of the transfer matrix $T(\lambda)$ (we write $\tau(\lambda) \in \Sigma_T$). Moreover, in that case, the corresponding $Q(\lambda) \in \Sigma_Q^M$ satisfying (2.38) with $\tau(\lambda)$ is unique, and the unique (up to an overall normalization factor) left and right $T(\lambda)$ eigenstates can be expressed as (2.18)-(2.19).

Remark 1. In the formulation of this proposition, the bases (2.21) used in (2.18)-(2.19) can be either the SoV bases constructed via the new SoV approach proposed in [80], or the bases constructed via the generalized Sklyanin's approach, provided that the latter approach is applicable (we recall that its range of validity is more restricted).

In our previous work [1], we considered the case 2, which corresponds to the situation in which (at least) one of the two boundary matrices is diagonal. Here instead we want to consider the case 3, in which both boundary matrices are non-diagonal and satisfy the constraint (2.15). Note that the characterization of the spectrum and eigenstates provided by this proposition in the case 3 is not complete, contrary to what happens in cases 1 and 2. As explained in [31, 40], a part of the spectrum is then given by solutions of the inhomogeneous TQ-equation (2.36). It can also be noticed that, if the constraint (2.15) is satisfied for a given M and a given ε , then it is also satisfied for M' = N - 1 - M and $\varepsilon' = -\varepsilon$. As mentioned above, it was conjectured in [13, 14] that the solutions for M, ε together with the solutions for M', ε' produce the complete spectrum.

Under such a reformulation of the spectrum, any separate state constructed as in (2.18)-(2.19) within the generalization of Sklyanin's SoV approach can be expressed as a generalized Bethe state in the framework of the generalized gauge transformed reflection algebra given by (2.29), see (3.59)-(3.62) of [1]. Moreover, under certain conditions, the corresponding generalized reference state can be explicitly identified.

Let us introduce, as in [1], the notations

$$|\eta, x\rangle \equiv \bigotimes_{n=1}^{N} \binom{e^{-(n-N+x)\eta-\xi_n}}{1}_n, \qquad (2.39)$$

$$\widehat{\mathcal{B}}_{-}(\lambda|\alpha-\beta) = \sinh(\eta\beta) e^{-\eta\beta} e^{-(\lambda-\eta/2)} \mathcal{B}_{-}(\lambda|\alpha,\beta), \qquad (2.40)$$

and

$$\underline{\widehat{\mathcal{B}}}_{-,M}(\{\lambda_i\}_{i=1}^M | \alpha - \beta + 1) = \widehat{\mathcal{B}}_{-}(\lambda_1 | \alpha - \beta + 1) \cdots \widehat{\mathcal{B}}_{-}(\lambda_M | \alpha - \beta + 2M - 1)$$

$$= \prod_{j=1 \to M} \widehat{\mathcal{B}}_{-}(\lambda_j | \alpha - \beta + 2j - 1).$$
(2.41)

Then we can state the following proposition, which is just a reformulation of Proposition 3.4 of [1]:

Proposition 2.2. Let us suppose that, for a given $M \in \{1, ..., N\}$ and given $\epsilon_{\varphi_+}, \epsilon_{\varphi_-} \in \{+1, -1\}$,

$$\tau_{+} - \tau_{-} = -\epsilon_{\varphi_{+}}(\varphi_{+} + \psi_{+}) - \epsilon_{\varphi_{-}}(\varphi_{-} - \psi_{-}) - (N - 1 - 2M)\eta + \frac{1 - \epsilon_{\varphi_{+}} \epsilon_{\varphi_{-}}}{2}i\pi \mod 2i\pi.$$
(2.42)

Let us moreover suppose that the generalized Sklyanin's approach is applicable, with α and β fixed in terms of the boundary parameters φ_{-}, ψ_{-} and of $\epsilon_{\varphi_{-}}$ as

$$\eta \alpha = -\tau_{-} + \frac{\epsilon_{\varphi_{-}} - \epsilon_{-}}{2} (\varphi_{-} - \psi_{-}) - \frac{\epsilon_{-} + \epsilon_{\varphi_{-}}}{4} i\pi + ik\pi \mod 2i\pi, \qquad (2.43)$$

$$\eta\beta = \frac{\epsilon_- + \epsilon_{\varphi_-}}{2}(\varphi_- - \psi_-) + \frac{2 + \epsilon_- - \epsilon_{\varphi_-}}{4}i\pi + ik\pi \mod 2i\pi, \tag{2.44}$$

for any $\epsilon_{-} \in \{1, -1\}$, $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. Then, there exists a constant $c_{M,ref}^{(R)}$ such that, for any $Q \in \Sigma_Q^M$ with roots $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_M$ labelled as in (2.16), the separate state (2.18) constructed within the generalized Sklyanin's SoV approach with α, β given by (2.43)-(2.44) can be written as

$$|Q\rangle = \mathsf{c}_{M,ref}^{(R)} \underline{\widehat{\mathcal{B}}}_{-,M}(\{\lambda_i\}_{i=1}^M | \alpha - \beta + 1) | \eta, \alpha + \beta + N - 2M - 1 \rangle.$$
(2.45)

Note that the ABA rewriting of (2.45) is valid for any separate state constructed within the Sklyanin's approach, and not only for eigenstates (i.e. Q in (2.45) does not need to satisfy the TQ-equation). Such a rewriting does however not hold in general for separate states constructed via the new SoV approach, except for eigenstates, see [1] for more details.

3 Decomposition of boundary states into bulk ones

To compute correlation functions, we need to be able to act with the local operators on the transfer matrix eigenstates. In the bulk case [93,94], this could be done thanks to the solution of the quantum inverse problem [93,132,133], i.e. of the expression of local operators in terms of the generators of the Yang-Baxter algebra. In the absence of a solution of the quantum inverse problem directly in terms of the boundary algebra, we shall use the same strategy as in [1,20]: decompose the boundary eigenstates in terms of bulk states on which we are able to act by using the bulk inverse problem, see [1] for more details on this procedure. To this purpose, the representation of eigenstates, and more generally of separate states (in the Sklyanin's framework) in terms of generalized Bethe states of Proposition 2.2, is particularly convenient. In this section, we explain how to decompose these generalized Bethe states into generalized (gauged transformed) bulk Bethe states for any boundary matrix K_{-} .

3.1 Boundary-bulk decomposition of the monodromy matrix

The idea is, as in [20] to use the decomposition of the boundary monodromy matrix into the bulk one. However, as in [1], instead of using directly (2.7) giving U_{-} in terms of *T* (2.8), we prefer for technical reasons to use the decomposition

$$\mathcal{U}_{-}(\lambda) = \hat{M}(-\lambda)K_{-}(\lambda)M(-\lambda), \qquad (3.1)$$

in terms of

$$M(\lambda) = \bar{R}_{0N}(\lambda - \xi_N + \eta/2) \dots \bar{R}_{01}(\lambda - \xi_1 + \eta/2) = \begin{pmatrix} A(\lambda) & B(\lambda) \\ C(\lambda) & D(\lambda) \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.2)

$$=(-1)^{N}\hat{T}(-\lambda), \qquad (3.3)$$

and

$$\hat{M}(\lambda) = (-1)^{N} \sigma_{0}^{y} M^{t_{0}}(-\lambda) \sigma_{0}^{y} = \bar{R}_{01}(\lambda + \xi_{1} + \eta/2) \dots \bar{R}_{0N}(\lambda + \xi_{N} + \eta/2)$$

$$= (-1)^{N} T(-\lambda),$$
(3.4)
(3.5)

in which

$$\bar{R}_{12}(\lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} \sinh(\lambda - \eta) & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \sinh\lambda & -\sinh\eta & 0\\ 0 & -\sinh\eta & \sinh\lambda & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \sinh(\lambda - \eta) \end{pmatrix} = -R_{12}(-\lambda), \quad (3.6)$$

is the *R*-matrix which corresponds to a change of parameter $\eta \rightarrow \bar{\eta} = -\eta$ with respect to (2.11). Using the Vertex-IRF transformation (2.29)-(2.30), we can then write, for any choices of the gauge parameters $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta, \gamma', \delta'$ such that the corresponding matrices (2.30) are invertible,

$$\mathcal{U}_{-}(\lambda|\alpha,\beta) = \hat{M}(-\lambda|(\gamma,\delta),(\alpha,\beta))K_{-}(\lambda|(\gamma,\delta),(\gamma',\delta'))M(-\lambda|(\gamma',\delta'),(\alpha,\beta)), \quad (3.7)$$

in which we have defined

$$M(\lambda|(\alpha,\beta),(\gamma,\delta)) = S^{-1}(-\eta/2 - \lambda|\alpha,\beta) M(\lambda)S(-\eta/2 - \lambda|\gamma,\delta)$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} A(\lambda|(\alpha,\beta),(\gamma,\delta)) & B(\lambda|(\alpha,\beta),(\gamma,\delta)) \\ C(\lambda|(\alpha,\beta),(\gamma,\delta)) & D(\lambda|(\alpha,\beta),(\gamma,\delta)) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (3.8)$$

$$\hat{M}(\lambda|(\alpha,\beta),(\gamma,\delta)) = S^{-1}(\lambda + \eta/2|\gamma,\delta) \hat{M}(\lambda)S(\lambda + \eta/2|\alpha,\beta)$$

$$= (-1)^{N} \frac{\det S(\lambda + \eta/2|\alpha,\beta)}{\det S(\lambda + \eta/2|\gamma,\delta)} \sigma_{0}^{y} M^{t_{0}}(-\lambda|(\alpha - 1,\beta),(\gamma - 1,\delta)) \sigma_{0}^{y}, \quad (3.9)$$

and

$$K_{-}(\lambda|(\gamma,\delta),(\gamma',\delta')) = S^{-1}(\eta/2 - \lambda|\gamma,\delta)K_{-}(\lambda)S(\lambda - \eta/2|\gamma',\delta'), \qquad (3.10)$$

see [1] for more details. As in [1], we shall also use the notations

$$M(\lambda|(\alpha,\beta),(\gamma,\delta)) = \frac{e^{\eta(\alpha+1/2)}}{2\sinh\eta\beta} \begin{pmatrix} A(\lambda|\alpha-\beta,\gamma+\delta) & B(\lambda|\alpha-\beta,\gamma-\delta) \\ C(\lambda|\alpha+\beta,\gamma+\delta) & D(\lambda|\alpha+\beta,\gamma-\delta) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.11)

highlighting the fact that the entries of (3.11) depend in fact only on two combinations $\alpha \pm \beta$ and $\gamma \pm \delta$. In terms of these matrix elements, the relation (3.7) can be rewritten as

$$\mathcal{U}_{-}(\lambda|\alpha,\beta) = \frac{(-1)^{N} e^{\eta(\gamma'+\alpha)}}{4\sinh\eta\delta'\sinh\eta\beta} \begin{pmatrix} D(\lambda|\gamma+\delta-1,\alpha-\beta-1) & -B(\lambda|\gamma-\delta-1,\alpha-\beta-1) \\ -C(\lambda|\gamma+\delta-1,\alpha+\beta-1) & A(\lambda|\gamma-\delta-1,\alpha+\beta-1) \end{pmatrix} \times K_{-}(\lambda|(\gamma,\delta),(\gamma',\delta')) \begin{pmatrix} A(-\lambda|\gamma'-\delta',\alpha+\beta) & B(-\lambda|\gamma'-\delta',\alpha-\beta) \\ C(-\lambda|\gamma'+\delta',\alpha+\beta) & D(-\lambda|\gamma'+\delta',\alpha-\beta) \end{pmatrix}, \quad (3.12)$$

This relation was used in [1] to express the generalized boundary creation operators $\widehat{\mathcal{B}}_{-}(\lambda_{1}|\alpha-\beta)$ into gauged bulk operators, and then the generalized boundary Bethe states into gauged bulk Bethe states. This was done there in a particular case in which the boundary matrix K_{-} , and hence its gauged counterpart (3.10), was diagonal, so that the boundary-bulk decomposition obtained in [1] was particularly simple: it was just similar to the one used in [20]. Here we explain how to generalize such formulas to the case of any general boundary matrix K_{-} . As shown below, this can be done by choosing adequately the internal gauge parameters γ , δ , γ' , δ' in (3.7).

Proposition 3.1. Let us fix the internal gauge parameters as

$$\gamma = \gamma', \qquad \eta \gamma = -\tau_+ + \epsilon_+ i\pi/2, \qquad (3.13)$$

$$\delta = \delta', \qquad \eta \delta = -\epsilon_+ (\varphi_+ + \psi_+) - i\pi/2, \qquad (3.14)$$

with $\epsilon_{+} = \pm 1$. Then, for any choice of the external gauge parameter $\alpha - \beta$, the following boundary bulk decomposition holds:

$$\widehat{\mathcal{B}}_{-}(\lambda|\alpha-\beta) = \frac{(-1)^{N} e^{\eta(\gamma+\alpha-\beta)}}{4\sinh\eta(\delta+1)} \frac{\sinh(2\lambda-\eta)}{\sinh2\lambda} \times \left[A_{\epsilon_{+}}(\lambda)B(-\lambda|\gamma-\delta-1,\alpha-\beta-1)D(\lambda|\gamma+\delta,\alpha-\beta) - A_{\epsilon_{+}}(-\lambda)B(\lambda|\gamma-\delta-1,\alpha-\beta-1)D(-\lambda|\gamma+\delta,\alpha-\beta) \right], \quad (3.15)$$

where

$$A_{\epsilon_{+}}(\lambda) = \frac{\sinh(\lambda - \frac{\eta}{2} + \epsilon_{+}\varphi_{+})\cosh(\lambda - \frac{\eta}{2} + \epsilon_{+}\psi_{+})}{\sinh(\epsilon_{+}\varphi_{+})\cosh(\epsilon_{+}\psi_{+})}.$$
(3.16)

Proof. Let us recall that the gauged boundary matrix $K_{-}(\lambda|(\gamma, \delta), (\gamma', \delta'))$ can be made diagonal, identically with respect to λ , by fixing γ, γ' and δ, δ' such that

$$\gamma = \gamma', \qquad \delta = \delta',$$
 (3.17)

and that

$$\frac{\kappa_+}{\sinh\zeta_+} \Big[\sinh(\eta(\gamma+\delta)+\tau_+)+\sinh(\varphi_++\psi_+)\Big] = 0, \qquad (3.18)$$

$$\frac{\kappa_+}{\sinh\zeta_+} \Big[\sinh(\eta(\gamma-\delta)+\tau_+)+\sinh(\varphi_++\psi_+)\Big] = 0.$$
(3.19)

With the choice (3.13)-(3.14) these conditions are satisfied, and we have

$$\left[K_{-}(\lambda|(\gamma,\delta),(\gamma,\delta))\right]_{11} = e^{\lambda - \eta/2} A_{\epsilon_{+}}(\lambda), \qquad (3.20)$$

$$\left[K_{-}(\lambda|(\gamma,\delta),(\gamma,\delta))\right]_{22} = e^{\lambda - \eta/2} A_{-\epsilon_{+}}(\lambda), \qquad (3.21)$$

so that,

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{\mathcal{B}}_{-}(\lambda|\alpha-\beta) &= (-1)^{N} \, \frac{e^{-\lambda+\eta/2+\eta(\gamma+\alpha-\beta)}}{4\sinh\eta\delta} \\ &\times \left\{ \left[K_{-}(\lambda|(\gamma,\delta),(\gamma,\delta)) \right]_{11} D(\lambda|\gamma+\delta-1,\alpha-\beta-1) B(-\lambda|\gamma-\delta,\alpha-\beta) \right. \\ &\left. - \left[K_{-}(\lambda|(\gamma,\delta),(\gamma,\delta)) \right]_{22} B(\lambda|\gamma-\delta-1,\alpha-\beta-1) D(-\lambda|\gamma+\delta,\alpha-\beta) \right\}. \end{aligned}$$
(3.22)

By using the commutation relation

$$D(\lambda|\gamma + \delta - 1, \alpha - \beta - 1)B(-\lambda|\gamma - \delta, \alpha - \beta)$$

$$= \frac{\sinh(\eta\delta)\sinh(2\lambda - \eta)}{\sinh(2\lambda)\sinh(\eta(\delta + 1))}B(-\lambda|\gamma - \delta - 1, \alpha - \beta - 1)D(\lambda|\gamma + \delta, \alpha - \beta)$$

$$+ \frac{\sinh\eta\sinh(2\lambda + \delta\eta)}{\sinh(2\lambda)\sinh(\eta(\delta + 1))}B(\lambda|\gamma - \delta - 1, \alpha - \beta - 1)D(-\lambda|\gamma + \delta, \alpha - \beta), \quad (3.23)$$

one gets the result.

3.2 Decomposition of gauged boundary states into bulk ones

From the previous result one gets the following one on gauged boundary states:

Proposition 3.2. Let $\{\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_M\}$ be an arbitrary set of spectral parameters and α , β be arbitrary gauge parameters. Then, for γ and δ fixed as in (3.13)-(3.14) for a given $\epsilon_+ = \pm 1$, we have the following boundary-bulk decompositions for the gauged boundary Bethe state given by the action of (2.41) on the gauge reference state $|\eta, \gamma + \delta\rangle$ (2.39):

$$\underline{\widehat{\mathcal{B}}}_{-,M}(\{\lambda_i\}_{i=1}^M | \alpha - \beta + 1) | \eta, \gamma + \delta \rangle = h_M(\gamma - \delta, \alpha - \beta, \gamma + \delta) \sum_{\sigma_1 = \pm 1, \dots, \sigma_M = \pm 1} H_{\sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_M}(\{\lambda_i\}_{i=1}^M) \times B(\lambda_M^{(\sigma)} | \gamma - \delta - 1, \alpha - \beta) \cdots B(\lambda_1^{(\sigma)} | \gamma - \delta - M, \alpha - \beta + M - 1) | \eta, \gamma + \delta + M \rangle, \quad (3.24)$$

with

$$H_{\sigma_{1},\dots,\sigma_{M}}(\{\lambda_{i}\}_{i=1}^{M}) \equiv H_{\sigma_{1},\dots,\sigma_{M}}(\{\lambda_{i}\}_{i=1}^{M}|\epsilon_{+}\varphi_{+},\epsilon_{+}\psi_{+})$$

$$= \prod_{n=1}^{M} \left[\sigma_{n} a(-\lambda_{n}^{(\sigma)}) A_{\epsilon_{+}}(-\lambda_{n}^{(\sigma)}) \frac{\sinh(2\lambda_{n}-\eta)}{\sinh 2\lambda_{n}}\right] \prod_{1 \leq a < b \leq M} \frac{\sinh(\lambda_{a}^{(\sigma)}+\lambda_{b}^{(\sigma)}+\eta)}{\sinh(\lambda_{a}^{(\sigma)}+\lambda_{b}^{(\sigma)})}, \quad (3.25)$$

$$h_{M}(\gamma-\delta,\alpha-\beta,\gamma+\delta) = (-1)^{MN} e^{M\eta \frac{\gamma-\delta+\alpha-\beta+N}{2}} \prod_{j=1}^{M} \frac{\sinh(\eta \frac{\alpha-\beta-\gamma-\delta+N-1+2j}{2})}{2\sinh(\eta(\delta+j))}, \quad (3.26)$$

where we have used the notation $\lambda_n^{(\sigma)} \equiv \sigma_n \lambda_n$ for $n \in \{1, \dots, M\}$.

Proof. As in the particular case considered in [1], we proceed by induction on M. The result clearly holds for M = 1 from (3.15). Let us now suppose that it holds for a given M. Then, we have that by Proposition 3.1 that

$$\widehat{\mathcal{B}}_{-}(\lambda_{M+1}|\alpha-\beta+1)\widehat{\underline{\mathcal{B}}}_{-,M}(\{\lambda_{i}\}_{i=1}^{M}|\alpha-\beta+3)|\eta,\gamma+\delta\rangle
= \frac{(-1)^{N}e^{\eta(\gamma+\alpha-\beta+1)}}{4\sinh\eta(\delta+1)}\frac{\sinh(2\lambda_{M+1}-\eta)}{\sinh2\lambda_{M+1}}h_{M}(\gamma-\delta,\alpha-\beta+2,\gamma+\delta)\sum_{\sigma_{1}=\pm1,...,\sigma_{M}=\pm1}H_{\sigma_{1},...,\sigma_{M}}(\{\lambda_{i}\}_{i=1}^{M})
\times \sum_{\sigma_{M+1}=\pm}-\sigma_{M+1}A_{\epsilon_{+}}(-\lambda_{M+1}^{(\sigma)})B(\lambda_{M+1}^{(\sigma)}|\gamma-\delta-1,\alpha-\beta)D(-\lambda_{M+1}^{(\sigma)}|\gamma+\delta,\alpha-\beta+1)
\times B(\lambda_{M}^{(\sigma)}|\gamma-\delta-1,\alpha-\beta+2)\cdots B(\lambda_{1}^{(\sigma)}|\gamma-\delta-M,\alpha-\beta+M+1)|\eta,\gamma+\delta+M\rangle.$$
(3.27)

Now it is easy to show that the direct action of $D(-\lambda_{M+1}^{(\sigma)}|\gamma + \delta, \alpha - \beta - 1)$ produces a terms which satisfies the induction:

$$D(-\lambda_{M+1}^{(\sigma)}|\gamma+\delta,\alpha-\beta-1)B(\lambda_{M}^{(\sigma)}|\gamma-\delta-1,\alpha-\beta+2).\cdots$$

$$\cdots B(\lambda_{1}^{(\sigma)}|\gamma-\delta-M,\alpha-\beta+M+1)|\eta,\gamma+\delta+M\rangle$$

$$\stackrel{\text{Direct Action}}{=} \frac{e^{-(\alpha-\beta+M-1)\eta}-e^{-(\gamma+\delta+M-N)\eta}}{e^{\eta/2}}\frac{a(-\lambda_{M+1}^{(\sigma)})\sinh\eta(\delta+1)}{\sinh\eta(\delta+M+1)}\prod_{a=1}^{M-1}\frac{\sinh(\lambda_{M}^{(\sigma)}+\lambda_{a}^{(\sigma)}+\eta)}{\sinh(\lambda_{M}^{(\sigma)}+\lambda_{a}^{(\sigma)})}$$

$$\times B(\lambda_{M}^{(\sigma)}|\gamma-\delta-2,\alpha-\beta+1).\cdots B(\lambda_{1}^{(\sigma)}|\gamma-\delta-M-1,\alpha-\beta+M)|\eta,\gamma+\delta+M+1\rangle,$$
(3.28)

which produces the left hand side of (3.24) for M + 1.

It therefore remains to show that the indirect action of $D(-\lambda_{M+1}^{(\sigma)}|\gamma+\delta,\alpha-\beta-1)$ produces terms which sum to zero to complete the proof of the induction. Let us consider the indirect

Sci Post

action which results in the exchange of $\pm \lambda_a$, for $a \leq M$, with $\pm \lambda_{M+1}$ in the monomial of gauged bulk *B*-operators, i.e. into the following vector:

$$B(\lambda_{M+1}|\gamma-\delta-1,\alpha-\beta)B(-\lambda_{M+1}|\gamma-\delta-2,\alpha-\beta+1)$$

$$\times \prod_{j=1\to M-1} B(\mu_{M-j}|\gamma-\delta-2-j,\alpha-\beta+1+j)|\eta,\gamma+\delta+M+1\rangle, \quad (3.29)$$

in which $\{\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_{M-1}\} \equiv \{\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_M\} \setminus \{\lambda_a\}$. Then the coefficient in front of this vector contains the following factor:

$$\sum_{\sigma_a=\pm 1,\sigma_{M=1}=\pm 1} \sigma_{M+1} \sigma_a A_{\epsilon_+} (-\lambda_{M+1}^{(\sigma)}) A_{\epsilon_+} (-\lambda_a^{(\sigma)}) \frac{\sinh(\lambda_{M+1}^{(\sigma)} + \lambda_a^{(\sigma)} - \eta(\delta+1))}{\sinh(\lambda_{M+1}^{(\sigma)} + \lambda_a^{(\sigma)})}$$
$$= -\sinh(2\lambda_{M+1}) \sinh(2\lambda_a) \frac{\cosh(\epsilon_+(\varphi_+ + \psi_+) + \eta\delta) \cosh(\epsilon_+(\varphi_+ + \psi_+) - \eta)}{\sinh^2(\epsilon_+\varphi_+) \cosh^2(\epsilon_+\psi_+)}, \quad (3.30)$$

which is zero, being

$$\cosh(\epsilon_+(\varphi_+ + \psi_+) + \eta \delta) = 0 \tag{3.31}$$

for δ given by (3.14).

4 Action of local operators on boundary separate states

Using the boundary-bulk decomposition of generalized Bethe states given in Proposition 3.2, we can now compute the action of local operators on these states similarly as in [1]. This action is however quite cumbersome due to the fact that we have to deal with generalized gauged transformed bulk and boundary operators. To overcome this problem, we identified in [1] a particular basis in the space of local operators on the first *m* sites of the chain, for which the action on generalized Bethe states happens to have a relatively simple combinatorial form.⁴ We recall here the form of this basis and compute the action of its elements on states of the form (3.24), hence generalizing the result of [1] to the case of a general boundary matrix *K*_.

Let $E^{i,j}$, $i, j \in \{1, 2\}$, denote the usual elementary matrices on \mathbb{C}^2 , i.e. the 2 × 2 matrices with elements $(E^{i,j})_{k,\ell} = \delta_{i,k}\delta_{j,\ell}$. As in [1], we consider the following local operators at site *n*:

$$E_{n}^{\epsilon'_{n},\epsilon_{n}}(u|(a,b),(\bar{a},\bar{b})) = S_{n}(-u|\bar{a},\bar{b})E_{n}^{\epsilon'_{n},\epsilon_{n}} [S_{n}(-u|a,b)]^{-1} \in \text{End}\mathcal{H}_{n} , \qquad (4.1)$$

with $\epsilon'_n, \epsilon_n \in \{1, 2\}$. For given arbitrary values of the parameters $(u, a, b, \bar{a}, \bar{b})$, the operators (4.1) are therefore four different linear combinations of the local elementary operators $E_n^{i,j} \in \text{End } \mathcal{H}_n, 1 \leq i, j \leq 2$, with coefficients written in terms of $(u, a, b, \bar{a}, \bar{b})$.⁵ From (4.1), we

⁵Explicitly, we have

$$\begin{split} E_n^{1,1}(u|(a,b),(\bar{a},\bar{b})) &= \frac{e^{\eta a}}{2\sinh(\eta b)} \Big[-e^{-\eta(\bar{a}+\bar{b})} E_n^{1,1} + e^{-u-\eta(a+\bar{a}-b+\bar{b})} E_n^{1,2} - e^u E_n^{2,1} + e^{-\eta(a-b)} E_n^{2,2} \Big], \\ E_n^{1,2}(u|(a,b),(\bar{a},\bar{b})) &= \frac{e^{\eta a}}{2\sinh(\eta b)} \Big[e^{-\eta(\bar{a}+\bar{b})} E_n^{1,1} - e^{-u-\eta(a+\bar{a}+b+\bar{b})} E_n^{1,2} + e^u E_n^{2,1} - e^{-\eta(a+b)} E_n^{2,2} \Big], \\ E_n^{2,1}(u|(a,b),(\bar{a},\bar{b})) &= \frac{e^{\eta a}}{2\sinh(\eta b)} \Big[-e^{-\eta(\bar{a}-\bar{b})} E_n^{1,1} + e^{-u-\eta(a+\bar{a}-b-\bar{b})} E_n^{1,2} - e^u E_n^{2,1} + e^{-\eta(a-b)} E_n^{2,2} \Big], \\ E_n^{2,2}(u|(a,b),(\bar{a},\bar{b})) &= \frac{e^{\eta a}}{2\sinh(\eta b)} \Big[e^{-\eta(\bar{a}-\bar{b})} E_n^{1,1} - e^{-u-\eta(a+\bar{a}+b-\bar{b})} E_n^{1,2} + e^u E_n^{2,1} - e^{-\eta(a+b)} E_n^{2,2} \Big]. \end{split}$$

⁴This action is in fact similar to the action of the natural basis of local operators on the usual Bethe states that was obtained in the diagonal case [20].

define the following set of tensor products of such local operators on the first m sites of the chain:

$$\mathbb{E}_{m}(\alpha,\beta) = \left\{ \prod_{n=1}^{m} E_{n}^{\epsilon_{n}^{\prime},\epsilon_{n}}(\xi_{n}|(a_{n},b_{n}),(\bar{a}_{n},\bar{b}_{n})) \in \operatorname{End}(\otimes_{n=1}^{m}\mathcal{H}_{n}) \mid \epsilon,\epsilon^{\prime} \in \{1,2\}^{m} \right\}, \quad (4.2)$$

in which the parameters $a_n, \bar{a}_n, b_n, \bar{b}_n, 1 \le n \le m$, are fixed in terms of the gauged parameters α, β and of the *m*-tuples $\epsilon \equiv (\epsilon_1, \dots, \epsilon_m)$ and $\epsilon' \equiv (\epsilon'_1, \dots, \epsilon'_m)$ as⁶

$$a_n = \alpha + 1, \qquad b_n = \beta - \sum_{r=1}^n (-1)^{\epsilon_r},$$
(4.3)

$$\bar{a}_n = \alpha - 1, \qquad \bar{b}_n = \beta + \sum_{r=n+1}^m (-1)^{\epsilon'_r} - \sum_{r=1}^m (-1)^{\epsilon_r} = b_n + 2\tilde{m}_{n+1},$$
(4.4)

with

$$\tilde{m}_n = \sum_{r=n}^{m} (\epsilon'_r - \epsilon_r) = \sum_{r=n}^{m} \frac{(-1)^{\epsilon'_r} - (-1)^{\epsilon_r}}{2}.$$
(4.5)

Then, we have shown in [1] that, except for a finite numbers of values of $\beta \mod 2\pi/\eta$, the set $\mathbb{E}_m(\alpha,\beta)$ defines a basis of $\operatorname{End}(\otimes_{n=1}^m \mathcal{H}_n)$. In other words, it means that any operator $\mathcal{O}_{1\to m}$ which acts only on the first *m* sites of the chain can be expressed as a linear combination of elements of $\mathbb{E}_m(\alpha,\beta)$.

The boundary bulk decomposition of boundary states given in Proposition 3.2, together with the action of the elements of this basis on gauged bulk Bethe states obtained in Theorem 4.1 of [1], enables us to compute the action of these elements on gauged boundary Bethe states of the form

$$\underline{\widehat{\mathcal{B}}}_{-,M}(\{\lambda_i\}_{i=1}^M | \alpha - \beta + 1) | \eta, \alpha + \beta + N - 2M - 1 \rangle$$

$$(4.6)$$

under the following constraint on the choice on the gauge parameters α and β :

$$\eta(\alpha + \beta + N - 2M - 1) = -\tau_{+} - \epsilon_{+}(\varphi_{+} + \psi_{+}) + \frac{\epsilon_{+} - 1}{2}i\pi \mod 2i\pi, \qquad (4.7)$$

with $\epsilon_+ = \pm 1$. More precisely, we can formulate the following result, which is the analog of Theorem 4.2 of [1] for this case with an arbitrary boundary matrix K_- , provided that we choose α and β satisfying (4.7):⁷

Theorem 4.1. Under any choice of α , β satisfying (4.7), the action on the state (4.6) of a generic element $\prod_{n=1}^{m} E_n^{\epsilon'_n, \epsilon_n}(\xi_n | (a_n, b_n), (\bar{a}_n, \bar{b}_n))$ of the basis (4.2) of local operators on the first m sites of the chain, where the parameters $a_n, b_n, \bar{a}_n, \bar{b}_n$ are defined by (4.3) and (4.4), is given as

$$\prod_{n=1}^{m} E_{n}^{\epsilon_{n}^{\epsilon_{n},\epsilon_{n}}}(\xi_{n}|(a_{n},b_{n}),(\bar{a}_{n},\bar{b}_{n}))\underline{\widehat{\mathcal{B}}}_{-,M}(\{\mu_{i}\}_{i=1}^{M}|\alpha-\beta+1)|\eta,\alpha+\beta+N-1-2M\rangle$$

$$=\sum_{B_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}}\bar{\mathcal{F}}_{B_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}}(\{\mu_{i}\}_{j=1}^{M},\{\xi_{j}^{(1)}\}_{j=1}^{m}|\beta)$$

$$\times \underline{\widehat{\mathcal{B}}}_{-,M+\tilde{m}_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}}(\{\mu_{i}\}_{\substack{i=1\\i\notin B_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}}}^{M+m}|\alpha-\beta+1-2\tilde{m}_{\epsilon,\epsilon'})|\eta,\alpha+\beta+N-1-2M\rangle. \quad (4.8)$$

⁶For instance, for m = 1, the b and \bar{b} -parameters are fixed as $b_1 = \bar{b}_1 = \beta - (-1)^{\epsilon_1}$; for m = 2, they are fixed as $b_1 = \beta - (-1)^{\epsilon_1}$, $\bar{b}_2 = b_2 = b_1 - (-1)^{\epsilon_2} = \beta - (-1)^{\epsilon_1} - (-1)^{\epsilon_2}$, and $\bar{b}_1 = b_2 + (-1)^{\epsilon'_2}$.

⁷Note that the formulation of this result does not impose any condition on $\alpha - \beta$.

Here, we have defined $\mu_{M+j} := \xi_{m+1-j}^{(1)}$ for $j \in \{1, ..., m\}$. The sum in (4.8) runs over all possible sets of integers $B_{\epsilon,\epsilon'} = \{B_1, ..., B_{s+s'}\}$ whose elements satisfy the conditions

$$\begin{cases} B_p \in \{1, \dots, M\} \setminus \{B_1, \dots, B_{p-1}\} & \text{for } 0 (4.9)$$

with the notations

$$\{i_p\}_{p \in \{1, \dots, s\}} = \{1, \dots, m\} \cap \{j \mid e_j = 2\}$$
 with $i_p < i_q$ if $p < q$, (4.10)

$$\{i_p\}_{p \in \{s+1, \dots, s+s'\}} = \{1, \dots, m\} \cap \{j \mid e'_j = 1\}$$
 with $i_p > i_q$ if $p < q$. (4.11)

Moreover,

$$\begin{split} \bar{\mathcal{F}}_{\mathsf{B}_{e,e'}}(\{\mu_{j}\}_{j=1}^{M},\{\xi_{j}^{(1)}\}_{j=1}^{m}|\beta) &= (-1)^{(N+1)\bar{m}_{e,e'}}e^{\eta\bar{m}_{e,e'}(\beta+\bar{m}_{e,e'})}\prod_{n=1}^{m}\frac{e^{\eta}}{\sinh(\eta b_{n})}\sum_{\sigma_{a_{+}}=\pm}\frac{\prod_{j=1}^{s+s'}d(\mu_{\mathsf{B}_{j}}^{\sigma})}{\prod_{j=1}^{m}d(\xi_{j}^{(1)})} \\ &\times \frac{H_{\sigma_{a_{+}}}(\{\mu_{\alpha_{+}}\})}{H_{1}(\{\xi_{\gamma_{+}}^{(1)}\})}\prod_{i\in\alpha_{-}}\prod_{e=\pm}\left\{\prod_{j\in\alpha_{+}}\frac{\sinh(\mu_{j}^{\sigma}+\epsilon\mu_{i}+\eta)}{\sinh(\mu_{j}^{\sigma}+\epsilon\mu_{i})}\prod_{j\in\gamma_{+}}\frac{\sinh(\xi_{j}^{(1)}+\epsilon\mu_{i})}{\sinh(\xi_{j}^{(0)}+\epsilon\mu_{i})}\right\} \\ &\times \prod_{i\in\alpha_{+}}\left\{\prod_{j\in\gamma_{+}}\frac{\sinh(\xi_{j}^{(1)}-\mu_{i}^{\sigma})}{\sinh(\xi_{j}^{(0)}-\mu_{i}^{\sigma})}\frac{\prod_{j\in\alpha_{+}}\sinh(\mu_{j}^{\sigma}-\mu_{i}^{\sigma}-\eta)}{\prod_{j\in\alpha_{+}\setminus\{i\}}\sinh(\mu_{j}^{\sigma}-\mu_{i}^{\sigma})}\right\}\prod_{1\leq i< j\leq s+s'}\frac{\sinh(\mu_{\mathsf{B}_{i}}^{\sigma}-\mu_{\mathsf{B}_{j}}^{\sigma}-\eta)}{\sinh(\mu_{\mathsf{B}_{i}}^{\sigma}-\mu_{\mathsf{B}_{j}}^{\sigma}-\eta)} \\ &\times \prod_{p=1}^{s}\left[\sinh(\xi_{i_{p}}^{(1)}-\mu_{\mathsf{B}_{p}}^{\sigma}+\eta(1+b_{i_{p}}))\frac{\prod_{k=i_{p}+1}^{m}\sinh(\mu_{\mathsf{B}_{p}}^{\sigma}-\xi_{k}^{(1)}-\eta)}{\prod_{k=i_{p}+1}^{m}\sinh(\mu_{\mathsf{B}_{p}}^{\sigma}-\xi_{k}^{(1)})}\right] \\ &\times \prod_{p=s+1}^{s+s'}\left[\sinh(\xi_{i_{p}}^{(1)}-\mu_{\mathsf{B}_{p}}^{\sigma}-\eta(1-\bar{b}_{i_{p}}))\frac{\prod_{k=i_{p}+1}^{m}\sinh(\xi_{k}^{(1)}-\mu_{\mathsf{B}_{p}}^{\sigma}-\eta)}{\prod_{k\neq M+m+1-\mathsf{B}_{p}}^{m}\sinh(\xi_{k}^{(1)}-\mu_{\mathsf{B}_{p}}^{\sigma}-\eta)}\right], \tag{4.12}$$

where the sum is performed over all $\sigma_j \in \{+,-\}$ for $j \in \alpha_+$, we have defined $\mu_i^{\sigma} = \sigma_i \mu_i$ for $i \in B_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}$, with $\sigma_i = 1$ if i > M, and

$$\alpha_{+} = \mathsf{B}_{\epsilon,\epsilon'} \cap \{1,\ldots,M\}, \qquad \qquad \alpha_{-} = \{1,\ldots,M\} \setminus \alpha_{+}, \qquad (4.13)$$

$$\gamma_{-} = \{M + m + 1 - j\}_{j \in \mathsf{B}_{\epsilon,\epsilon'} \cap \{N+1,\dots,N+m\}}, \quad \gamma_{+} = \{1,\dots,m\} \setminus \gamma_{-}.$$
(4.14)

The function $H_{\sigma}(\{\lambda\}) \equiv H_{\sigma}(\{\lambda\}|\epsilon_{+}\varphi_{+},\epsilon_{+}\psi_{+})$ is given by (3.25).

Proof. Noticing that the constraint (4.7) is compatible with the choice (3.13)-(3.14) of γ and δ such that

$$\alpha + \beta + N - 2M - 1 = \gamma + \delta, \tag{4.15}$$

we can use the boundary-bulk decomposition of Proposition 3.2 to decompose the gauge boundary Bethe state (4.6) into gauged bulk Bethe state of the form

$$B(\lambda_1^{(\sigma)}|x-1,\alpha-\beta)\cdots B(\lambda_M^{(\sigma)}|x-M,\alpha-\beta+M-1)|\eta,\alpha+\beta+N-M-1\rangle$$
(4.16)

with $x = \gamma - \delta$. We then use Theorem 4.1 of [1] to compute the action of $\prod_{n=1}^{m} E_n^{\epsilon'_n, \epsilon_n}(\xi_n | (a_n, b_n), (\bar{a}_n, \bar{b}_n))$ on the bulk states (4.16) and use again Proposition 3.2 to reconstruct boundary states. By doing this, we get rid of the apparent dependance on $\gamma - \delta$.

Remark 2. The action presented in Theorem 4.1 formally coincides with the action that we have computed in Theorem 4.2 of [1]. However, one has to remark that there it was derived under the very strong boundary condition:

$$K_{-,0}(\lambda;\varsigma_{+}=-\infty,\kappa_{+},\tau_{+}) = \begin{pmatrix} e^{(\eta/2-\lambda)} & 0\\ 0 & e^{(\lambda-\eta/2)} \end{pmatrix}_{0} = e^{(\eta/2-\lambda)\sigma_{0}^{z}}, \quad (4.17)$$

which completely fixes the boundary field at site *N*. Here, instead, we are leaving the three boundary parameters ς_+ , κ_+ , τ_+ completely arbitrary. The price to pay is that the gauge parameters α and β need to satisfy the constraint (4.7), whereas in [1] they could be taken arbitrary. It happens that the boundary-bulk decomposition here derived in Proposition 3.2 shows that, even under general boundary parameters, the gauged transformed boundary Bethe states admit formally, under special choice of the gauge parameters γ and δ , the same boundarybulk decomposition as in the special boundary case (4.17), just the boundary-bulk coefficients $H_{\sigma}(\{\lambda\})$ here account for the dependence from the current general values of the boundary parameters ς_+ , κ_+ , τ_+ .

We recall that, under the constraint (2.42) on the boundary parameters, any separate state in the Sklyanin's SoV approach can be expressed as a generalized Bethe state of the form (4.6) with the choice (2.43)-(2.44) of α and β , see Proposition 2.2. Note that the choice (2.43)-(2.44) together with the constraint (2.42) imposes that α and β satisfy the constraint (4.7) with $\epsilon_+ = \epsilon_{\varphi_+}$:

$$\eta(\alpha+\beta) = -\tau_{-} + \epsilon_{\varphi_{-}}(\varphi_{-}-\psi_{-}) + \frac{1-\epsilon_{\varphi_{-}}}{2}i\pi \mod 2i\pi,$$

$$= -\tau_{+} - \epsilon_{\varphi_{+}}(\varphi_{+}+\psi_{+}) - (N-1-2M)\eta + \frac{1-\epsilon_{\varphi_{+}}}{2}i\pi \mod 2i\pi.$$
(4.18)

Hence Theorem 4.1 also provides the action of a generic element $\prod_{n=1}^{m} E_n^{\epsilon'_n,\epsilon_n}(\xi_n|(a_n, b_n), (\bar{a}_n, \bar{b}_n))$ of the basis (4.2) on any generic Sklyanin's separate state, provided that the constraint (2.42) is satisfied. We see that the result can still be expressed as a linear combination of separate states if $\tilde{m}_{\epsilon,\epsilon'} = 0$.

5 Matrix elements of *m*-site local operator strips in the finite chain

We now consider the matrix elements of an element of the basis (4.2) of strips of local operators on the first *m*-sites of the chain, in a generic transfer matrix eigenstate associated with a solution of homogeneous Bethe equations under the non-diagonal boundary conditions subject to the constraint (2.42), that we recall here:

$$\tau_{+} - \tau_{-} = -\epsilon_{\varphi_{+}}(\varphi_{+} + \psi_{+}) - \epsilon_{\varphi_{-}}(\varphi_{-} - \psi_{-}) - (N - 1 - 2M)\eta + \frac{1 - \epsilon_{\varphi_{+}}\epsilon_{\varphi_{-}}}{2}i\pi \mod 2i\pi$$
(5.1)

for a given $M \in \{1, ..., N\}$ and with a given choice of $\epsilon_{\varphi_+}, \epsilon_{\psi_+} \in \{+1, -1\}$. More precisely, we consider a matrix element of the form

$$\langle \{\lambda\} \mid \prod_{n=1}^{m} E_n^{\epsilon'_n, \epsilon_n}(\xi_n \mid (a_n, b_n), (\bar{a}_n, \bar{b}_n)) \mid \{\lambda\} \rangle = \frac{\langle Q \mid \prod_{n=1}^{m} E_n^{\epsilon'_n, \epsilon_n}(\xi_n \mid (a_n, b_n), (\bar{a}_n, \bar{b}_n)) \mid Q \rangle}{\langle Q \mid Q \rangle},$$
(5.2)

in which $|\{\lambda\}\rangle$ and $\langle\{\lambda\}|$ are the normalized transfer matrix eigenstates associated with a solution $\{\lambda\} \equiv \{\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_M\}$ of the homogeneous Bethe equations under the constraint (5.1). We denote by *Q* the associated polynomial of degree *M* of the form (2.16) with roots given by

{ λ }, solution of the homogeneous *TQ*-equation (2.38) with the corresponding transfer matrix eigenvalue τ . Hence, in the notations (5.2), $\langle Q |$ and $|Q \rangle$ denote the SoV eigenstates constructed in the Sklyanin's approach.⁸ We fix here α and β as in (2.43)-(2.44), and a_n , b_n , \bar{a}_n , \bar{b}_n are given in terms of α , β , ϵ , ϵ' as in (4.3)-(4.4).

It follows from Proposition 2.2 that (5.2) can be re-expressed as

$$\langle \{\lambda\} | \prod_{n=1}^{m} E_{n}^{\epsilon'_{n},\epsilon_{n}}(\xi_{n}|(a_{n},b_{n}),(\bar{a}_{n},\bar{b}_{n}))| \{\lambda\} \rangle = \mathsf{c}_{M,\mathrm{ref}}^{(R)}$$

$$\times \frac{\langle Q | \prod_{n=1}^{m} E_{n}^{\epsilon'_{n},\epsilon_{n}}(\xi_{n}|(a_{n},b_{n}),(\bar{a}_{n},\bar{b}_{n}))\underline{\widehat{B}}_{-,M}(\{\lambda_{i}\}_{i=1}^{M}|\alpha-\beta+1)|\eta,\alpha+\beta+N-2M-1\rangle}{\langle Q|Q \rangle},$$
(5.3)

and we can now use Theorem 4.1 to act with $\prod_{n=1}^{m} E_n^{\epsilon'_n, \epsilon_n}(\xi_n | (a_n, b_n), (\bar{a}_n, \bar{b}_n))$ on the right in this expression. We restrict here our study to the case in which⁹

$$\sum_{r=1}^{m} (\epsilon_r' - \epsilon_r) = 0, \qquad (5.4)$$

for which the result of this action can again be directly expressed as a sum over Sklyanin's separate states of a similar type:

$$\langle \{\lambda\} \mid \prod_{n=1}^{m} E_n^{\epsilon'_n, \epsilon_n}(\xi_n \mid (a_n, b_n), (\bar{a}_n, \bar{b}_n)) \mid \{\lambda\} \rangle = \sum_{\mathsf{B}_{\epsilon, \epsilon'}} \bar{\mathcal{F}}_{\mathsf{B}_{\epsilon, \epsilon'}}(\{\lambda\}, \{\xi_j^{(1)}\}_{j=1}^m \mid \beta) \frac{\langle Q \mid \bar{Q}_{\mathsf{B}_{\epsilon, \epsilon'}} \rangle}{\langle Q \mid Q \rangle}.$$
(5.5)

Here we have used the notations of Theorem 4.1, and $\bar{Q}_{B_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}}$ denotes the polynomial of the form (2.16) with roots given by

$$\{\bar{\lambda}_1, \dots, \bar{\lambda}_M\} \equiv \{\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_{N+m}\} \setminus \{\lambda_j\}_{j \in \mathsf{B}_{\epsilon, \epsilon'}} = \{\lambda_a\}_{a \in \alpha_-} \cup \{\xi_{i_b}^{(1)}\}_{b \in \alpha_+}, \tag{5.6}$$

in which, as in Theorem 4.1, we have denoted $\xi_{m+1-j}^{(1)} \equiv \lambda_{M+j}$ for $j \in \{1, ..., m\}$. We can then use the formulas obtained in [40] to compute the resulting scalar products of separate states.

The technical details of the computation are then completely similar to those performed in [1], and we therefore obtain the following result, which extends to the case (5.1) the result stated in Theorem 5.1 of [1]:

Theorem 5.1. Let the boundary condition (5.1), for a given $M \in \{1,...,N\}$ and with a given choice of $\epsilon_{\varphi_+}, \epsilon_{\psi_+} \in \{+1, -1\}$, be satisfied, and let $\{\lambda\} \equiv \{\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_M\}$ be a solution of the homogeneous Bethe equations under the constraint (5.1). Let α and β be given in terms of φ_-, ψ_- by (2.43)-(2.44), and let $\epsilon \equiv (\epsilon_1, ..., \epsilon_m), \epsilon' \equiv (\epsilon'_1, ..., \epsilon'_m) \in \{1, 2\}^m$ satisfying (5.4).

⁸In the expression (5.2), $\langle Q |$ and $|Q \rangle$ may as well denote the SoV eigenstates constructed in the new approach of [80] since they are proportional to the Sklyanin's ones due to the simplicity of the transfer matrix spectrum. However, when acting on the generalized Bethe state in (5.3), we obtain a sum over generalized Bethe states with modified arguments which are no longer transfer matrix eigenstates, see Theorem 4.1. Under the condition (5.4), these generalized Bethe states can be re-expressed as Sklyanin's separate states thanks to Proposition 2.2, but a priori not in terms of the type of separate states obtained within the new approach of [80]. Therefore our computations need in principle to be performed in the generalized Sklyanin's SoV framework. Note however that, if we happen to be in a limiting case in which only the new separation of variables approach is applicable, we can proceed as in [1] by taking limits from regions of the space of parameters in which Sklyanin's SoV is applicable.

⁹For matrix elements for which (5.4) is not satisfied, we encounter the same problem as in [1]: the action of Theorem 4.1 produces states with shifted gauge parameters and shifted number of roots, that at the moment we do not know how to re-express in a simple form in terms of usual types of separate states.

Then the matrix elements (5.2), where $a_n, b_n, \bar{a}_n, \bar{b}_n$ are given in terms of $\alpha, \beta, \epsilon, \epsilon'$ as in (4.3)-(4.4), can be written as

$$\langle \{\lambda\} | \prod_{n=1}^{m} E_{n}^{\epsilon_{n}',\epsilon_{n}}(\xi_{n}|(a_{n},b_{n}),(\bar{a}_{n},\bar{b}_{n})) | \{\lambda\} \rangle$$

$$= \sum_{B_{1}=1}^{M} \dots \sum_{B_{s}=1}^{M} \sum_{B_{s+1}=1}^{M+m} \dots \sum_{B_{m}=1}^{M+m} \frac{H_{\{B_{j}\}}(\{\lambda\}|\beta)}{\prod_{1 \leq l < k \leq m} \sinh(\xi_{k}-\xi_{l})\sinh(\xi_{k}+\xi_{l})},$$
(5.7)

with

$$H_{\{B_{j}\}}(\{\lambda\}|\beta) = \prod_{n=1}^{m} \frac{e^{\eta}}{\sinh(\eta b_{n})} \sum_{\sigma_{B_{j}}} \frac{(-1)^{s} \prod_{i=1}^{m} \sigma_{B_{i}} \prod_{i=1}^{m} \sinh(\lambda_{B_{i}}^{\sigma} + \xi_{j} + \eta/2)}{\prod_{1 \le i < j \le m} \sinh(\lambda_{B_{i}}^{\sigma} - \lambda_{B_{j}}^{\sigma} - \eta) \sinh(\lambda_{B_{i}}^{\sigma} + \lambda_{B_{j}}^{\sigma} + \eta)} \\ \times \prod_{p=1}^{s} \left\{ \sinh(\lambda_{B_{p}}^{\sigma} - \xi_{i_{p}}^{(1)} - \eta(1 + b_{i_{p}})) \prod_{k=1}^{i_{p}-1} \sinh(\lambda_{B_{p}}^{\sigma} - \xi_{k}^{(1)}) \prod_{k=i_{p}+1}^{m} \sinh(\lambda_{B_{p}}^{\sigma} - \xi_{k}^{(0)}) \right\} \\ \times \prod_{p=s+1}^{m} \left\{ \sinh(\lambda_{B_{p}}^{\sigma} - \xi_{i_{p}}^{(1)} + \eta(1 - \bar{b}_{i_{p}})) \prod_{k=1}^{i_{p}-1} \sinh(\lambda_{B_{p}}^{\sigma} - \xi_{k}^{(1)}) \prod_{k=i_{p}+1}^{m} \sinh(\lambda_{B_{p}}^{\sigma} - \xi_{k}^{(1)} + \eta) \right\} \\ \times \prod_{k=1}^{m} \frac{\sinh(\xi_{k} - \epsilon_{\varphi_{-}}\varphi_{-})\cosh(\xi_{k} - \epsilon_{\varphi_{-}}\psi_{-})}{\sinh(\lambda_{B_{k}}^{\sigma} - \epsilon_{\varphi_{-}}\varphi_{-} + \eta/2)\cosh(\lambda_{B_{k}}^{\sigma} - \epsilon_{\varphi_{-}}\psi_{-} + \eta/2)} \det \Omega.$$
(5.8)

Here we have used the notations (4.10)-(4.11), and the sum is performed over all $\sigma_{B_j} \in \{+, -\}$ for $B_j \leq M$, and $\sigma_{B_j} = 1$ for $B_j > M$. Finally, the $m \times m$ matrix Ω is given by

$$\Omega_{lk} = -\delta_{N+m+1-b_l,k}, \qquad \text{for } B_l > M, \tag{5.9}$$

$$\Omega_{lk} = \sum_{a=1}^{M} \left[\mathcal{N}^{-1} \right]_{\mathsf{B}_{l},a} \mathcal{M}_{a,k}, \quad \text{for } \mathsf{B}_{l} \le M,$$
(5.10)

where we have defined

$$[\mathcal{N}]_{j,k} \equiv [\mathcal{N}(\boldsymbol{\lambda})]_{j,k} = 2N\,\delta_{j,k}\,\Xi'_{\varepsilon,Q}(\lambda_j) + 2\pi \big[K(\lambda_j - \lambda_k) - K(\lambda_j + \lambda_k)\big],\tag{5.11}$$

$$[\mathcal{M}]_{j,k} \equiv [\mathcal{M}(\bar{\boldsymbol{\lambda}}, \boldsymbol{\lambda})]_{j,k} = \begin{cases} [\mathcal{N}(\boldsymbol{\lambda})]_{j,k} & \text{if } k \in \alpha_{-}, \\ i[t(\xi_{i_k} - \lambda_j) - t(\xi_{i_k} + \lambda_j)] & \text{if } k \in \alpha_{+}, \end{cases}$$
(5.12)

in terms of

$$\Xi_{\varepsilon,Q}'(\mu) = \frac{i}{2N} \frac{\partial}{\partial \mu} \left(\log \frac{\mathbf{A}_{\varepsilon}(-\mu)Q(\mu+\eta)}{\mathbf{A}_{\varepsilon}(\mu)Q(\mu-\eta)} \right), \tag{5.13}$$

$$K(\lambda) = \frac{i\sinh(2\eta)}{2\pi\sinh(\lambda+\eta)\sinh(\lambda-\eta)} = \frac{i}{2\pi} \left[t(\lambda+\eta/2) + t(\lambda-\eta/2) \right],$$
(5.14)

$$t(\lambda) = \frac{\sinh \eta}{\sinh(\lambda - \eta/2)\sinh(\lambda + \eta/2)} = \coth(\lambda - \eta/2) - \coth(\lambda + \eta/2).$$
(5.15)

6 On correlation functions in the half-infinite chain

As mentioned above, the description of the transfer matrix spectrum and eigenstates in terms of the homogeneous TQ-equation (2.38) for Q of the form (2.16) is not complete under the

constraint (5.1). However, it was argued in [13] that, at least for the range of boundary parameters numerically investigated there, the corresponding Bethe equations,

$$\mathbf{A}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_j)Q(\lambda_j-\eta) + \mathbf{A}_{\varepsilon}(-\lambda_j)Q(\lambda_j+\eta) = 0, \qquad j = 1, \dots, M,$$
(6.1)

which can be rewritten as, for $\lambda_j \neq 0, i\frac{\pi}{2}$,

$$\frac{a(-\lambda_{j})d(\lambda_{j})}{a(\lambda_{j})d(-\lambda_{j})}\prod_{\sigma=\pm}\frac{\sinh(\lambda_{j}+\frac{\eta}{2}-\epsilon_{\varphi_{\sigma}}\varphi_{\sigma})\cosh(\lambda_{j}+\frac{\eta}{2}-\sigma\epsilon_{\varphi_{\sigma}}\psi_{\sigma})}{\sinh(\lambda_{j}-\frac{\eta}{2}+\epsilon_{\varphi_{\sigma}}\varphi_{\sigma})\cosh(\lambda_{j}-\frac{\eta}{2}+\sigma\epsilon_{\varphi_{\sigma}}\psi_{\sigma})}$$

$$\times\prod_{\substack{k=1\\k\neq j}}^{M}\frac{\sinh(\lambda_{j}-\lambda_{k}+\eta)\sinh(\lambda_{j}+\lambda_{k}+\eta)}{\sinh(\lambda_{j}-\lambda_{k}-\eta)\sinh(\lambda_{j}+\lambda_{k}-\eta)}=1, \qquad j=1,\ldots,M, \quad (6.2)$$

yield the ground state in the sector

$$M = \left\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \right\rfloor. \tag{6.3}$$

It was more generally conjectured in [14] that, when combining the solutions in the sector M with the constraint (5.1) with a given choice of $\epsilon_{\varphi_+}, \epsilon_{\varphi_-}$ and the solutions in the sector M' = N - 1 - M with a constraint in which the signs are negated, one gets the complete spectrum. If this conjecture is true, this means in particular that, under the constraint (5.1), the ground state can be found in one the two sectors (M, ε) or $(M', -\varepsilon)$, and can be described by usual Bethe equations. Note that, if N - 2M remains finite in the thermodynamic limit, so is N - 2M', and we can consider the half-infinite chain limit (thermodynamic limit $N \to \infty$) while maintaining the constraint (5.1).

If we are in such a situation, then the analysis concerning the distribution of Bethe roots in the ground state can be performed completely similarly as in the diagonal case [8, 9, 41]. Hence, the ground state should be characterized in the homogeneous and thermodynamic limits by a infinite number (i.e. of order N/2) of Bethe roots distributed on an interval (0, Λ) according to a density function $\rho(\lambda)$, with

$$\rho(\lambda) = \begin{cases}
\frac{1}{\zeta \cosh(\pi\lambda/\zeta)} & \text{with } \zeta = i\eta > 0 & \text{and } \Lambda = +\infty & \text{if } |\Delta| < 1, \\
\frac{i}{\pi} \frac{\vartheta_1'(0,q)}{\vartheta_2(0,q)} \frac{\vartheta_3(i\lambda,q)}{\vartheta_4(i\lambda,q)} & \text{with } q = e^{\eta} (\eta < 0) & \text{and } \Lambda = -i\pi/2 & \text{if } \Delta > 1.
\end{cases}$$
(6.4)

This density function is solution of the following integral equation:

$$\rho(\lambda) + \int_0^{\Lambda} \left[K(\lambda - \mu) + K(\lambda + \mu) \right] \rho(\mu) d\mu = \frac{it(\lambda)}{\pi}.$$
(6.5)

which can be extended by parity on the whole interval $(-\Lambda, \Lambda)$ as

$$\rho(\lambda) + \int_{-\Lambda}^{\Lambda} K(\lambda - \mu) \rho(\mu) d\mu = \frac{it(\lambda)}{\pi}.$$
(6.6)

Depending on the configuration of the boundary parameters and on the precise number of Bethe roots $\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor - k$ (with *k* remaining finite in the thermodynamic limit) characterising the ground state, the fine structure of the ground state may also include a finite number of "complex" roots,¹⁰ i.e. of roots that are not on the real axis in the regime $|\Delta| < 1$ nor on the

¹⁰We may also possibly have a finite number of "holes" in the distribution of "real" roots. The latter should however not contribute to the leading order of the result for the correlation functions in the thermodynamic limit.

imaginary axis in the regime $\Delta > 1$. In particular, it may contain some isolated "complex" roots of the form

$$\check{\lambda}_{\sigma,1} = \eta/2 - \epsilon_{\varphi_{\sigma}}\varphi_{\sigma} + \varepsilon_{\sigma,1}, \qquad \check{\lambda}_{\sigma,2} = \eta/2 - \sigma \epsilon_{\varphi_{\sigma}}\psi_{\sigma} + i\frac{\pi}{2} + \varepsilon_{\sigma,2}, \qquad \sigma = +, -, \quad (6.7)$$

which converge towards the poles of the boundary factor in (6.2) with exponentially small corrections $\varepsilon_{\sigma,i}$ in *N*: these roots play an important role in the computation of the correlation functions in the thermodynamic limit (see [20, 41]), and we call them boundary roots.

Although these are interesting problems, we shall not discuss here the validity of the aforementioned conjectures, nor the fine structure of the ground state according to the precise configuration of the boundary fields. Instead, we shall simply assume that we are in a configuration of the boundaries so that the ground state can be characterized, in the thermodynamic limit, by an infinite set of Bethe roots on $(0, \Lambda)$ distributed according to the density function (6.4) solution of (6.5)-(6.6), with possibly some additional boundary roots of the form (6.7). Note that, although all types of boundary roots (6.7) may be present in the description of the ground state, only the presence of the boundary roots $\lambda_{-,1}, \lambda_{-,2}$ results into a non-zero direct contribution to the final result for the correlation functions around site 1 in the thermodynamic limit,¹¹ due to the presence of the singularities in the expression (5.8). Hence, we have here a priori to distinguish among the four following possible regimes:¹²

- A) the set of Bethe roots for the ground state does not contain neither $\lambda_{-,1}$ nor $\lambda_{-,2}$;
- B) the set of Bethe roots for the ground state contains $\check{\lambda}_{-,1}$ but not $\check{\lambda}_{-,2}$;
- C) the set of Bethe roots for the ground state contains $\dot{\lambda}_{-,2}$ but not $\dot{\lambda}_{-,1}$;
- D) the set of Bethe roots for the ground state contains both $\dot{\lambda}_{-,1}$ and $\dot{\lambda}_{-,2}$.

Under such assumptions, we can proceed as in [1,20] to compute the thermodynamic limit of the expression (5.7)-(5.8) for the ground state, and we obtain the following result for the mean value in the ground state of an element of the basis (4.2) under the condition (5.4) and under the hypothesis of Theorem 5.1:

$$\langle \prod_{n=1}^{m} E_{n}^{\epsilon_{n}^{\prime},\epsilon_{n}}(\xi_{n}|(a_{n},b_{n}),(\bar{a}_{n},\bar{b}_{n}))\rangle = \prod_{n=1}^{m} \frac{e^{\eta}}{\sinh(\eta b_{n})} \frac{(-1)^{s}}{\prod_{j(6.8)$$

¹¹However, the fact that the set of Bethe roots for the ground state contains the boundary roots $\dot{\lambda}_{-,1}$ and/or $\dot{\lambda}_{-,2}$ may also depend on the boundary parameters at site *N*, see [41].

¹²For instance, the numerical results of Tables 2 and 4 of [13] seem to indicate that the numerical values of the boundary parameters considered in that paper correspond to regime A).

with

$$H_{m}(\{\lambda_{j}\}_{j=1}^{M};\{\xi_{k}\}_{k=1}^{m}) = \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{m} \prod_{k=1}^{m} \sinh(\lambda_{j} + \xi_{k} + \eta/2)}{\prod_{1 \le i < j \le m} \sinh(\lambda_{i} - \lambda_{j} - \eta) \sinh(\lambda_{i} + \lambda_{j} + \eta)}$$

$$\times \prod_{p=1}^{s} \left\{ \sinh(\lambda_{p} - \xi_{i_{p}}^{(1)} - \eta(1 + b_{i_{p}})) \prod_{k=1}^{i_{p}-1} \sin(\lambda_{p} - \xi_{k}^{(1)}) \prod_{k=i_{p}+1}^{m} \sinh(\lambda_{p} - \xi_{k}^{(1)} - \eta) \right\}$$

$$\times \prod_{p=s+1}^{m} \left\{ \sinh(\lambda_{p} - \xi_{i_{p}}^{(1)} + \eta(1 - \bar{b}_{i_{p}})) \prod_{k=1}^{i_{p}-1} \sinh(\lambda_{p} - \xi_{k}^{(1)}) \prod_{k=i_{p}+1}^{m} \sinh(\lambda_{p} - \xi_{k}^{(1)} + \eta) \right\}$$

$$\times \prod_{k=1}^{m} \frac{\sinh(\xi_{k} - \epsilon_{\varphi_{-}}\varphi_{-}) \cosh(\xi_{k} - \epsilon_{\varphi_{-}}\psi_{-})}{\sinh(\lambda_{B_{k}}^{\sigma} - \epsilon_{\varphi_{-}}\varphi_{-} + \eta/2) \cosh(\lambda_{B_{k}}^{\sigma} - \epsilon_{\varphi_{-}}\psi_{-} + \eta/2)}, \quad (6.9)$$

and

$$\Phi(\lambda_j, \xi_k) = \frac{1}{2} \Big[\rho(\lambda_j - \xi_k) - \rho(\lambda_j + \xi_k) \Big].$$
(6.10)

The integration contours are defined as

$$C = \begin{cases} [-\Lambda, \Lambda] & \text{in the regime A}), \\ [-\Lambda, \Lambda] \cup \Gamma(\frac{\eta}{2} - \epsilon_{\varphi_{-}}\varphi_{-}) & \text{in the regime B}), \\ [-\Lambda, \Lambda] \cup \Gamma(\frac{\eta}{2} + \epsilon_{\varphi_{-}}\psi_{-} + i\frac{\pi}{2}) & \text{in the regime C}), \\ [-\Lambda, \Lambda] \cup \Gamma(\frac{\eta}{2} - \epsilon_{\varphi_{-}}\varphi_{-}, \frac{\eta}{2} + \epsilon_{\varphi_{-}}\psi_{-} + i\frac{\pi}{2}) & \text{in the regime D}), \end{cases}$$
(6.11)

and

$$C_{\xi} = C \cup \Gamma(\xi_1^{(1)}, \dots, \xi_m^{(1)}), \tag{6.12}$$

where $\Gamma(\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_p)$ denotes a contour surrounding the points of μ_1, \ldots, μ_p with index 1, all other poles of the integrand being outside.

7 Conclusion and Outlooks

In this paper we have considered the open XXZ spin 1/2 chain with non-longitudinal boundary fields under one constraint relating the six boundary parameters. Under such a constraint, part of the spectrum and eigenstates of the transfer matrix can be described by a homogeneous TQ-equation, i.e. by usual Bethe equations [2]. The transfer matrix eigenstates can be constructed by Separation of Variables as particular separate states whose scalar product formulas are known [40]. Moreover, under the constraint, the separate states can be reformulated as generalized Bethe states which are written in terms of a gauged transformed reflection algebra obtained from the usual reflection algebra by a Vertex-IRF transformation.

So as to compute correlation functions, we have here derived the action of a basis of local operators on these generalized Bethe states under the most general boundary conditions on the site *N*. This gives us, in particular, the action of these local operators on the separate states, and therefore on the transfer matrix eigenstates which can be described by usual Bethe equations under the constraint. From this result and from the knowledge of the scalar product formula between separate states, we were able to derive multiple sum representations for the matrix elements, in these transfer matrix eigenstates, of the class of local operators which conserve the number of gauged *B*-operators under the action, i.e. which satisfy the constraint (5.4). Assuming that the ground state is among the eigenstates which can be described by usual Bethe

equations in a sector close to half-filling, as conjectured in [13], and that its corresponding set of Bethe roots is given in the thermodynamic by the usual density function with possibly extra boundary roots, we obtained multiple integral representation for the correlation functions of the aforementioned class of local operators. Our result generalizes those obtained in [1, 20] for more restricted boundary conditions.

Several interesting questions remain however open.

As in [1], we had here to restrict our study to the class of local operators which satisfy the constraint (5.4). If this constraint is not satisfied, the action of the corresponding local operator on generalized Bethe states is expressed in terms of generalized Bethe states with a different numbers of *B*-operators and a shifted gauge parameter, see (4.8). The problem is that Proposition 2.2 does not enable us to re-express such generalized Bethe states in a simple way in terms of separate states. In other words, we do not know how to compute the resulting scalar products in a compact way after the action. It would be highly desirable, for the consideration of interesting physical correlation functions, to be able to understand how to overcome this difficulty.

Another interesting question concerns the validity of the conjecture of [13, 14], on which we relied to formulate our results. An analytical proof of this conjecture is still missing, so that the question remains whether it indeed holds for all ranges of boundary parameters satisfying the constraint. Also, an interesting question would be to identify precisely the fine structure of the ground state for the different values of the four independent boundary parameters appearing in the Bethe equations: identify in particular the boundary roots that are involved in its description, and discuss the resulting phase diagram. Such a proper and precise analysis of the ground state can a priori be done as in [41] for the diagonal case, but it is more involved since there are much more different cases to distinguish.

Finally, the question of an analytical computation of the correlation functions for completely generic boundary fields, i.e. not satisfying the constraint (2.42), still remains widely open. The difficulty comes from the actual description of the spectrum in terms of an inhomogeneous TQ-equation as in (2.36), which does not lead to a simple description of the ground state in terms of well-organized Bethe roots as in the homogeneous case (2.38). To overcome this problem, it would be necessary either to understand how to deal with such kind of equations within the analytical framework of the correlation functions, or to find an alternative, more convenient, description of the spectrum, maybe in terms of a homogenous TQ-equation with non-polynomial Q-solutions.

Acknowledgments

Funding information G. N. is supported by CNRS and Laboratoire de Physique, ENS-Lyon. V. T. is supported by CNRS.

References

- G. Niccoli and V. Terras, Correlation functions for open XXZ spin 1/2 quantum chains with unparallel boundary magnetic fields, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 55, 405203 (2022), doi:10.1088/1751-8121/ac7ca1.
- R. I. Nepomechie, Bethe ansatz solution of the open XXZ chain with nondiagonal boundary terms, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 37, 433 (2003), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/37/2/012.

- [3] F. C. Alcaraz, M. N. Barber, M. T. Batchelor, R. J. Baxter and G. R. W. Quispel, Surface exponents of the quantum XXZ, Ashkin-Teller and Potts models, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 20, 6397 (1987), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/20/18/038.
- [4] E. K. Sklyanin, Boundary conditions for integrable quantum systems, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 21, 2375 (1988), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/21/10/015.
- [5] S. Ghoshal and A. Zamolodchikov, Boundary S matrix and boundary state in twodimensional integrable quantum field theory, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 09, 3841 (1994), doi:10.1142/S0217751X94001552.
- [6] M. Jimbo, R. Kedem, T. Kojima, H. Konno and T. Miwa, XXZ chain with a boundary, Nucl. Phys. B 441, 437 (1995), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(95)00062-W.
- [7] M. Jimbo, R. Kedem, H. Konno, T. Miwa and R. Weston, Difference equations in spin chains with a boundary, Nucl. Phys. B 448, 429 (1995), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(95)00218-H.
- [8] S. Skorik and H. Saleur, Boundary bound states and boundary bootstrap in the sine-Gordon model with Dirichlet boundary conditions, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 28, 6605 (1995), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/28/23/014.
- [9] A. Kapustin and S. Skorik, Surface excitations and surface energy of the antiferromagnetic XXZ chain by the Bethe ansatz approach, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 29, 1629 (1996), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/29/8/011.
- [10] H. Fan, B.-y. Hou, K.-j. Shi and Z.-x. Yang, Algebraic Bethe ansatz for the eightvertex model with general open boundary conditions, Nucl. Phys. B 478, 723 (1996), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(96)00398-7.
- [11] R. I. Nepomechie, Solving the open XXZ spin chain with nondiagonal boundary terms at roots of unity, Nucl. Phys. B 622, 615 (2002), doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(01)00585-5.
- [12] J. Cao, H.-Q. Lin, K.-J. Shi and Y. Wang, *Exact solution of XXZ spin chain with unparallel boundary fields*, Nucl. Phys. B 663, 487 (2003), doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(03)00372-9.
- [13] R. I. Nepomechie and F. Ravanini, Completeness of the Bethe Ansatz solution of the open XXZ chain with nondiagonal boundary terms, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 36, 11391 (2003), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/36/45/003.
- [14] R. I. Nepomechie and F. Ravanini, Addendum to Completeness of the Bethe Ansatz solution of the open XXZ chain with nondiagonal boundary terms, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 37, 1945 (2004), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/37/5/030.
- [15] J. de Gier and F. H. L. Essler, Bethe Ansatz solution of the asymmetric exclusion process with open boundaries, Phys. Rev. Lett. 95, 240601 (2005), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.95.240601.
- [16] P. Baseilhac, *The q-deformed analogue of the Onsager algebra: Beyond the Bethe ansatz approach*, Nucl. Phys. B **754**, 309 (2006), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2006.08.008.
- [17] P. Baseilhac and K. Koizumi, Exact spectrum of the XXZ open spin chain from the q-Onsager algebra representation theory, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P09006 (2007), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2007/09/P09006.

- [18] W.-L. Yang and Y.-Z. Zhang, On the second reference state and complete eigenstates of the open XXZ chain, J. High Energy Phys. 04, 044 (2007), doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2007/04/044.
- [19] G. Filali and N. Kitanine, Spin chains with non-diagonal boundaries and trigonometric SOS model with reflecting end, Symmetry Integr. Geom.: Methods Appl. 7, 012 (2011), doi:10.3842/SIGMA.2011.012.
- [20] N. Kitanine, K. K. Kozlowski, J. M. Maillet, G. Niccoli, N. A. Slavnov and V. Terras, *Correlation functions of the open XXZ chain: I*, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P10009 (2007), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2007/10/P10009.
- [21] N. Kitanine, K. K. Kozlowski, J. M. Maillet, G. Niccoli, N. A. Slavnov and V. Terras, Correlation functions of the open XXZ chain: II, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P07010 (2008), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2008/07/P07010.
- [22] H. Frahm, A. Seel and T. Wirth, *Separation of variables in the open XXX chain*, Nucl. Phys. B **802**, 351 (2008), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2008.04.008.
- [23] N. Crampé, E. Ragoucy and D. Simon, Eigenvectors of open XXZ and ASEP models for a class of non-diagonal boundary conditions, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P11038 (2010), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2010/11/P11038.
- [24] N. Crampe, E. Ragoucy and D. Simon, *Matrix coordinate Bethe Ansatz: applications to XXZ and ASEP models*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 44, 405003 (2011), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/44/40/405003.
- [25] H. Frahm, J. H. Grelik, A. Seel and T. Wirth, *Functional Bethe ansatz methods for the open XXX chain*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 44, 015001 (2010), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/44/1/015001.
- [26] T. Prosen, Open XXZ spin chain: Nonequilibrium steady state and a strict bound on ballistic transport, Phys. Rev. Lett. 106, 217206 (2011), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.106.217206.
- [27] G. Niccoli, Non-diagonal open spin-1/2 X X Z quantum chains by separation of variables: complete spectrum and matrix elements of some quasi-local operators, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P10025 (2012), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2012/10/P10025.
- [28] J. Cao, W.-L. Yang, K. Shi and Y. Wang, Off-diagonal Bethe ansatz solutions of the anisotropic spin- chains with arbitrary boundary fields, Nucl. Phys. B 877, 152 (2013), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2013.10.001.
- [29] S. Faldella and G. Niccoli, SOV approach for integrable quantum models associated with general representations on spin-1/2 chains of the 8-vertex reflection algebra, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 47, 115202 (2014), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/47/11/115202.
- [30] S. Faldella, N. Kitanine and G. Niccoli, *The complete spectrum and scalar products for the open spin-1/2 XXZ quantum chains with non-diagonal boundary terms*, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P01011 (2014), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2014/01/P01011.
- [31] N. Kitanine, J. M. Maillet and G. Niccoli, Open spin chains with generic integrable boundaries: Baxter equation and Bethe ansatz completeness from separation of variables, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P05015 (2014), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2014/05/P05015.

- [32] S. Belliard and N. Crampé, *Heisenberg XXX model with general boundaries: Eigenvectors from algebraic Bethe ansatz*, Symmetry Integr. Geom.: Methods Appl. 9, 072 (2013), doi:10.3842/SIGMA.2013.072.
- [33] S. Belliard, *Modified algebraic Bethe ansatz for XXZ chain on the segment I: Triangular cases*, Nucl. Phys. B **892**, 1 (2015), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2015.01.003.
- [34] S. Belliard and R. A. Pimenta, *Modified algebraic Bethe ansatz for XXZ chain on the segment II general cases*, Nucl. Phys. B **894**, 527 (2015), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2015.03.016.
- [35] S. Belliard and R. A. Pimenta, Slavnov and Gaudin-Korepin formulas for models without U(1) symmetry: The twisted XXX chain, Symmetry Integr. Geom.: Methods Appl. (2015), doi:10.3842/sigma.2015.099.
- [36] J. Avan, S. Belliard, N. Grosjean and R. A. Pimenta, Modified algebraic Bethe ansatz for XXZ chain on the segment - III - Proof, Nucl. Phys. B 899, 229 (2015), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2015.08.006.
- [37] S. Belliard and R. A. Pimenta, Slavnov and Gaudin–Korepin formulas for models without U (1) symmetry: the XXX chain on the segment, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 49, 17LT01 (2016), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/49/17/17LT01.
- [38] N. Kitanine, J. M. Maillet, G. Niccoli and V. Terras, *The open XXX spin chain in the SoV framework: scalar product of separate states*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. **50**, 224001 (2017), doi:10.1088/1751-8121/aa6cc9.
- [39] J. M. Maillet, G. Niccoli and B. Pezelier, *Transfer matrix spectrum for cyclic representations of the 6-vertex reflection algebra I*, SciPost Phys. **2**, 009 (2017), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.2.1.009.
- [40] N. Kitanine, J. M. Maillet, G. Niccoli and V. Terras, *The open XXZ spin chain in the SoV framework: scalar product of separate states*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 51, 485201 (2018), doi:10.1088/1751-8121/aae76f.
- [41] S. Grijalva, J. De Nardis and V. Terras, *Open XXZ chain and boundary modes at zero temperature*, SciPost Phys. 7, 023 (2019), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.7.2.023.
- [42] S. Belliard, R. A. Pimenta and N. A. Slavnov, Scalar product for the XXZ spin chain with general integrable boundaries, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 54, 344001 (2021), doi:10.1088/1751-8121/ac1482.
- [43] E. K. Sklyanin and L. D. Faddeev, Quantum-mechanical approach to completely integrable field theory models, Sov. Phys. Dokl. 23, 902 (1978), doi:10.1142/9789814340960 0025.
- [44] E. K. Sklyanin, L. A. Takhtadzhyan and L. D. Faddeev, *Quantum inverse problem method*. *I*, Theor Math Phys **40**, 688 (1979), doi:10.1007/BF01018718.
- [45] L. A. Takhtadzhan and L. D. Faddeev, The quantum method of the inverse problem and the Heisenberg XYZ model, Russ. Math. Surv. 34, 11 (1979), doi:10.1070/RM1979v034n05ABEH003909.
- [46] I. V. Cherednik, *Factorizing particles on a half-line and root systems*, Theor. Math. Phys. 61, 977 (1984), doi:10.1007/BF01038545.

- [47] R. Baxter, Eight-vertex model in lattice statistics and one-dimensional anisotropic Heisenberg chain. II. Equivalence to a generalized ice-type lattice model, Ann. Phys. 76, 25 (1973), doi:10.1016/0003-4916(73)90440-5.
- [48] E. K. Sklyanin, *The quantum Toda chain*, in Non-Linear Equations in Classical and Quantum Field Theory, Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, ISBN 9783540152132 (1985), doi:10.1007/3-540-15213-X_80.
- [49] E. K. Sklyanin, Goryachev-Chaplygin top and the inverse scattering method, J. Sov. Math. 31, 3417 (1985), doi:10.1007/BF02107243.
- [50] E. K. Sklyanin, Functional Bethe Ansatz, in Integrable and Superintegrable Systems, World Scientific, Singapore, ISBN 9789810203160 (1990), doi:10.1142/9789812797179_0002.
- [51] E. K. Sklyanin, *Quantum inverse scattering method. Selected topics* (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.hep-th/9211111.
- [52] E. K. Sklyanin, Separation of variables: New trends, Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl. 118, 35 (1995), doi:10.1143/PTPS.118.35.
- [53] E. K. Sklyanin, Separation of variables in the quantum integrable models related to the Yangian Y[sl(3)], J. Math. Sci. 80, 1861 (1996), doi:10.1007/BF02362784.
- [54] O. Babelon, D. Bernard and F. A. Smirnov, Quantization of solitons and the restricted sine-Gordon model, Commun. Math. Phys. 182, 319 (1996), doi:10.1007/BF02517893.
- [55] F. A. Smirnov, Structure of matrix elements in the quantum Toda chain, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 31, 8953 (1998), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/31/44/019.
- [56] F. A. Smirnov, Separation of Variables for Quantum Integrable Models Related to $U_q(\hat{sl}_N)$, in MathPhys Odyssey 2001, Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, ISBN 9781461266051 (2002), doi:10.1007/978-1-4612-0087-1 17.
- [57] S. É. Derkachov, G. P. Korchemsky and A. N. Manashov, Noncompact Heisenberg spin magnets from high-energy QCD, Nucl. Phys. B 617, 375 (2001), doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(01)00457-6.
- [58] S. É. Derkachov, G. P. Korchemsky and A. N. Manashov, Separation of variables for the quantum SL(2,R) spin chain, J. High Energy Phys. 07, 047 (2003), doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2003/07/047.
- [59] S. É. Derkachov, G. P. Korchemsky and A. N. Manashov, Baxter Q-operator and separation of variables for the open SL(2, R) spin chain, J. High Energy Phys. 10, 053 (2003), doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2003/10/053.
- [60] A. G. Bytsko and J. Teschner, Quantization of models with non-compact quantum group symmetry: modular XXZ magnet and lattice sinh-Gordon model, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 39, 12927 (2006), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/39/41/S11.
- [61] G. von Gehlen, N. Iorgov, S. Pakuliak and V. Shadura, *The Baxter-Bazhanov-Stroganov model: separation of variables and the Baxter equation*, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. **39**, 7257 (2006), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/39/23/006.
- [62] L. Amico, H. Frahm, A. Osterloh and T. Wirth, Separation of variables for integrable spinboson models, Nucl. Phys. B 839, 604 (2010), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2010.07.005.

- [63] G. Niccoli and J. Teschner, The sine-Gordon model revisited: I, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P09014 (2010), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2010/09/P09014.
- [64] G. Niccoli, Reconstruction of Baxter Q-operator from Sklyanin SOV for cyclic representations of integrable quantum models, Nucl. Phys. B 835, 263 (2010), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2010.03.009.
- [65] G. Niccoli, Completeness of Bethe ansatz by Sklyanin SOV for cyclic representations of integrable quantum models, J. High Energy Phys. 03, 123 (2011), doi:10.1007/JHEP03(2011)123.
- [66] N. Grosjean, J. M. Maillet and G. Niccoli, On the form factors of local operators in the lattice sine-Gordon model, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P10006 (2012), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2012/10/P10006.
- [67] N. Grosjean and G. Niccoli, The τ₂-model and the chiral Potts model revisited: completeness of Bethe equations from Sklyanin's SOV method, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P11005 (2012), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2012/11/P11005.
- [68] G. Niccoli, Antiperiodic spin-1/2 XXZ quantum chains by separation of variables: Complete spectrum and form factors, Nucl. Phys. B 870, 397 (2013), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2013.01.017.
- [69] G. Niccoli, An antiperiodic dynamical six-vertex model: I. Complete spectrum by SOV, matrix elements of the identity on separate states and connections to the periodic eight-vertex model, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 46, 075003 (2013), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/46/7/075003.
- [70] G. Niccoli, Form factors and complete spectrum of XXX antiperiodic higher spin chains by quantum separation of variables, J. Math. Phys. 54, 053516 (2013), doi:10.1063/1.4807078.
- [71] N. Grosjean, J.-M. Maillet and G. Niccoli, On the form factors of local operators in the Bazhanov-Stroganov and chiral potts models, Ann. Henri Poincaré 16, 1103 (2014), doi:10.1007/s00023-014-0358-9.
- [72] G. Niccoli and V. Terras, Antiperiodic XXZ chains with arbitrary spins: Complete eigenstate construction by functional equations in separation of variables, Lett Math Phys 105, 989 (2015), doi:10.1007/s11005-015-0759-9.
- [73] D. Levy-Bencheton, G. Niccoli and V. Terras, Antiperiodic dynamical 6-vertex model by separation of variables II: functional equations and form factors, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. 033110 (2016), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2016/03/033110.
- [74] G. Niccoli and V. Terras, *The eight-vertex model with quasi-periodic boundary conditions*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. **49**, 044001 (2015), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/49/4/044001.
- [75] N. Kitanine, J. M. Maillet, G. Niccoli and V. Terras, On determinant representations of scalar products and form factors in the SoV approach: the XXX case, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 49, 104002 (2016), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/49/10/104002.
- [76] Y. Jiang, S. Komatsu, I. Kostov and D. Serban, *The hexagon in the mirror: the three-point function in the SoV representation*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 49, 174007 (2016), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/49/17/174007.

- [77] J. M. Maillet and G. Niccoli, On quantum separation of variables, J. Math. Phys. 59, 091417 (2018), doi:10.1063/1.5050989.
- [78] J. M. Maillet and G. Niccoli, Complete spectrum of quantum integrable lattice models associated to $\mathcal{U}_q(\widehat{gl_n})$ by separation of variables, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. **52**, 315203 (2019), doi:10.1088/1751-8121/ab2930.
- [79] P. Ryan and D. Volin, Separated variables and wave functions for rational gl(N) spin chains in the companion twist frame, J. Math. Phys. **60**, 032701 (2019), doi:10.1063/1.5085387.
- [80] J. M. Maillet and G. Niccoli, On separation of variables for reflection algebras, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. 094020 (2019), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/ab357a.
- [81] J. M. Maillet and G. Niccoli, *On quantum separation of variables beyond fundamental representations*, SciPost Phys. **10**, 026 (2021), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.10.2.026.
- [82] J. M. Maillet and G. Niccoli, Complete spectrum of quantum integrable lattice models associated to Y(gl(n)) by separation of variables, SciPost Phys. 6, 071 (2019), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.6.6.071.
- [83] J. M. Maillet, G. Niccoli and L. Vignoli, Separation of variables bases for integrable $gl_{\mathcal{M}|\mathcal{N}}$ and Hubbard models, SciPost Phys. 9, 060 (2020), doi:10.21468/scipostphys.9.4.060.
- [84] P. Ryan and D. Volin, Separation of Variables for Rational gl(n) Spin Chains in Any Compact Representation, via Fusion, Embedding Morphism and Bäcklund Flow, Commun. Math. Phys. 383, 311 (2021), doi:10.1007/s00220-021-03990-7.
- [85] D. Martin and F. Smirnov, Problems with using separated variables for computing expectation values for higher ranks, Lett Math Phys 106, 469 (2016), doi:10.1007/s11005-016-0823-0.
- [86] N. Gromov, F. Levkovich-Maslyuk and G. Sizov, New construction of eigenstates and separation of variables for SU(N) quantum spin chains, J. High Energy Phys. 09, 111 (2017), doi:10.1007/JHEP09(2017)111.
- [87] J. M. Maillet, G. Niccoli and L. Vignoli, *On scalar products in higher rank quantum separation of variables*, SciPost Phys. **9**, 086 (2020), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.9.6.086.
- [88] A. Cavaglià, N. Gromov and F. Levkovich-Maslyuk, Separation of variables and scalar products at any rank, J. High Energy Phys. 09, 052 (2019), doi:10.1007/JHEP09(2019)052.
- [89] N. Gromov, F. Levkovich-Maslyuk, P. Ryan and D. Volin, Dual separated variables and scalar products, Phys. Lett. B 806, 135494 (2020), doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2020.135494.
- [90] M. Jimbo and T. Miwa, Algebraic analysis of solvable lattice models, American Mathematical Society, Providence, Rhode Island, ISBN 9780821803202 (1994), doi:10.1090/cbms/085.
- [91] M. Jimbo, K. Miki, T. Miwa and A. Nakayashiki, *Correlation functions of the XXZ model for* Δ < −1, Phys. Lett. A **168**, 256 (1992), doi:10.1016/0375-9601(92)91128-E.
- [92] M. Jimbo and T. Miwa, Quantum KZ equation with |q| = 1 and correlation functions of the XXZ model in the gapless regime, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 29, 2923 (1996), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/29/12/005.

- [93] N. Kitanine, J. M. Maillet and V. Terras, *Form factors of the XXZ Heisenberg spin-1/2 finite chain*, Nucl. Phys. B **554**, 647 (1999), doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(99)00295-3.
- [94] N. Kitanine, J. M. Maillet and V. Terras, Correlation functions of the XXZ Heisenberg spin-1/2 chain in a magnetic field, Nucl. Phys. B 567, 554 (2000), doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(99)00619-7.
- [95] N. Kitanine, J. M. Maillet, N. A. Slavnov and V. Terras, Spin-spin correlation functions of the XXZ-1/2 Heisenberg chain in a magnetic field, Nucl. Phys. B 641, 487 (2002), doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(02)00583-7.
- [96] N. Kitanine, J. M. Maillet, N. A. Slavnov and V. Terras, Master equation for spin-spin correlation functions of the XXZ chain, Nucl. Phys. B 712, 600 (2005), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2005.01.050.
- [97] N. Kitanine, J. M. Maillet, N. A. Slavnov and V. Terras, Dynamical correlation functions of the XXZ spin-1/2 chain, Nucl. Phys. B 729, 558 (2005), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2005.08.046.
- [98] N. Kitanine, K. Kozlowski, J. M. Maillet, N. A. Slavnov and V. Terras, On correlation functions of integrable models associated with the six-vertex R -matrix, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P01022 (2007), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2007/01/P01022.
- [99] F. Göhmann, A. Klümper and A. Seel, Integral representations for correlation functions of the XXZ chain at finite temperature, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 37, 7625 (2004), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/37/31/001.
- [100] F. Göhmann, A. Klümper and A. Seel, Integral representation of the density matrix of the XXZ chain at finite temperatures, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 38, 1833 (2005), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/38/9/001.
- [101] H. E. Boos, F. Göhmann, A. Klümper and J. Suzuki, Factorization of the finite temperature correlation functions of the XXZ chain in a magnetic field, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 40, 10699 (2007), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/40/35/001.
- [102] F. Göhmann and J. Suzuki, Quantum spin chains at finite temperatures, in New trends in quantum integrable systems, World Scientific, Singapore (2010), doi:10.1142/9789814324373_0005.
- [103] M. Dugave, F. Göhmann, K. K. Kozlowski and J. Suzuki, *Low-temperature spectrum of correlation lengths of the XXZ chain in the antiferromagnetic massive regime*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 48, 334001 (2015), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/48/33/334001.
- [104] F. Göhmann, M. Karbach, A. Klümper, K. K. Kozlowski and J. Suzuki, Thermal formfactor approach to dynamical correlation functions of integrable lattice models, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. 113106 (2017), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/aa9678.
- [105] N. Kitanine, K. K. Kozlowski, J. M. Maillet, N. A. Slavnov and V. Terras, *Riemann–Hilbert approach to a generalised sine kernel and applications*, Commun. Math. Phys. **291**, 691 (2009), doi:10.1007/s00220-009-0878-1.
- [106] N. Kitanine, K. K. Kozlowski, J. M. Maillet, N. A. Slavnov and V. Terras, Algebraic Bethe ansatz approach to the asymptotic behavior of correlation functions, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P04003 (2009), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2009/04/P04003.

- [107] N. Kitanine, K. K. Kozlowski, J. M. Maillet, N. A. Slavnov and V. Terras, On the thermodynamic limit of form factors in the massless XXZ Heisenberg chain, J. Math. Phys. 50, 095209 (2009), doi:10.1063/1.3136683.
- [108] K. K. Kozlowski, J. M. Maillet and N. A. Slavnov, Long-distance behavior of temperature correlation functions in the one-dimensional Bose gas, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P03018 (2011), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2011/03/P03018.
- [109] K. K. Kozlowski, J. M. Maillet and N. A. Slavnov, Correlation functions for onedimensional bosons at low temperature, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P03019 (2011), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2011/03/P03019.
- [110] K. K. Kozlowski and V. Terras, Long-time and large-distance asymptotic behavior of the current-current correlators in the non-linear Schrödinger model, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P09013 (2011), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2011/09/P09013.
- [111] N. Kitanine, K. K. Kozlowski, J. M. Maillet, N. A. Slavnov and V. Terras, *The thermody-namic limit of particle-hole form factors in the massless XXZ Heisenberg chain*, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P05028 (2011), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2011/05/P05028.
- [112] N. Kitanine, K. K. Kozlowski, J. M. Maillet, N. A. Slavnov and V. Terras, A form factor approach to the asymptotic behavior of correlation functions in critical models, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P12010 (2011), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2011/12/P12010.
- [113] N. Kitanine, K. K. Kozlowski, J. M. Maillet, N. A. Slavnov and V. Terras, Form factor approach to dynamical correlation functions in critical models, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P09001 (2012), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2012/09/P09001.
- [114] M. Dugave, F. Göhmann and K. K. Kozlowski, Thermal form factors of the XXZ chain and the large-distance asymptotics of its temperature dependent correlation functions, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P07010 (2013), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2013/07/p07010.
- [115] N. Kitanine, K. K. Kozlowski, J. M. Maillet and V. Terras, Large-distance asymptotic behaviour of multi-point correlation functions in massless quantum models, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P05011 (2014), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2014/05/P05011.
- [116] J.-S. Caux, R. Hagemans and J. M. Maillet, Computation of dynamical correlation functions of Heisenberg chains: the gapless anisotropic regime, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P09003 (2005), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2005/09/P09003.
- [117] J.-S. Caux and J. M. Maillet, Computation of dynamical correlation functions of Heisenberg chains in a magnetic field, Phys. Rev. Lett. 95, 077201 (2005), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.95.077201.
- [118] R. G. Pereira, J. Sirker, J.-S. Caux, R. Hagemans, J. M. Maillet, S. R. White and I. Affleck, Dynamical spin structure factor for the anisotropic spin-1/2 Heisenberg chain, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96, 257202 (2006), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.96.257202.
- [119] H. Boos, M. Jimbo, T. Miwa, F. Smirnov and Y. Takeyama, *Traces on the Sklyanin algebra and correlation functions of the eight-vertex model*, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. **38**, 7629 (2005), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/38/35/003.
- [120] H. Boos, M. Jimbo, T. Miwa, F. Smirnov and Y. Takeyama, *Reduced qKZ equation and correlation functions of the XXZ Model*, Commun. Math. Phys. 261, 245 (2005), doi:10.1007/s00220-005-1430-6.

- [121] H. Boos, M. Jimbo, T. Miwa, F. Smirnov and Y. Takeyama, Density matrix of a finite sub-chain of the Heisenberg anti-ferromagnet, Lett Math Phys 75, 201 (2006), doi:10.1007/s11005-006-0054-x.
- [122] H. Boos, M. Jimbo, T. Miwa, F. Smirnov and Y. Takeyama, Algebraic representation of correlation functions in integrable spin chains, Ann. Henri Poincaré 7, 1395 (2006), doi:10.1007/s00023-006-0285-5.
- [123] H. Boos, M. Jimbo, T. Miwa, F. Smirnov and Y. Takeyama, *Hidden Grassmann structure in the XXZ model*, Commun. Math. Phys. **272**, 263 (2007), doi:10.1007/s00220-007-0202-x.
- [124] H. Boos, M. Jimbo, T. Miwa, F. Smirnov and Y. Takeyama, *Hidden Grassmann structure in the XXZ model II: Creation Operators*, Commun. Math. Phys. 286, 875 (2008), doi:10.1007/s00220-008-0617-z.
- M. Jimbo, T. Miwa and F. Smirnov, Hidden Grassmann structure in the XXZ model III: Introducing the Matsubara direction, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 42, 304018 (2009), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/42/30/304018.
- [126] M. Jimbo, T. Miwa and F. Smirnov, Hidden Grassmann structure in the XXZ Model V: Sine-Gordon model, Lett Math Phys 96, 325 (2010), doi:10.1007/s11005-010-0438-9.
- [127] M. Mestyán and B. Pozsgay, Short distance correlators in the XXZ spin chain for arbitrary string distributions, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P09020 (2014), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2014/09/p09020.
- [128] B. Pozsgay, Excited state correlations of the finite Heisenberg chain, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 50, 074006 (2017), doi:10.1088/1751-8121/aa5344.
- [129] C. Babenko, F. Göhmann, K. K. Kozlowski and J. Suzuki, A thermal form factor series for the longitudinal two-point function of the Heisenberg-Ising chain in the antiferromagnetic massive regime, J. Math. Phys. 62, 041901 (2021), doi:10.1063/5.0039863.
- [130] G. Niccoli, Correlation functions for open XXX spin 1/2 quantum chains with unparallel boundary magnetic fields, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2105.07992.
- [131] G. Niccoli, H. Pei and V. Terras, Correlation functions by separation of variables: the XXX spin chain, SciPost Phys. 10, 006 (2021), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.10.1.006.
- [132] J. M. Maillet and V. Terras, On the quantum inverse scattering problem, Nucl. Phys. B 575, 627 (2000), doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(00)00097-3.
- [133] F. Göhmann and V. E. Korepin, Solution of the quantum inverse problem, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 33, 1199 (2000), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/33/6/308.